



# Memorandum of Understanding between the City of Burbank and the Burbank Fire Fighters

International Association of Fire Fighters Local No. 778





July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2025

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ARTICLE I	1
RIGHTS AND PLEDGES	1
I.A. RECOGNITION	1
I.B. MUTUAL PLEDGE OF ACCORD	1
I.C. NON-DISCRIMINATION	1
I.D. CITY RIGHTS	1
I.D.1. GENERAL	1
I.D.2. RESERVED RIGHTS	
I.E. UNION RIGHTS	2
I.E.1. UNION ACCESS	2
I.E.2. PAY FOR UNION BUSINESS	2
I.E.3. BULLETIN BOARDS	2
I.F. SAFETY	3
I.F.1. COMMITMENT	
I.F.2. OBLIGATIONS	
I.F.3. SAFETY COMMITTEE	
I.G. ACCESS TO PERSONNEL RECORDS	4
I.H. DUES DEDUCTIONS	4
I.I. STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS	5
I.J. FULL UNDERSTANDING, MODIFICATIONS, WAIVER	5
I.K. SAVINGS CLAUSE	5
I.L. MAINTENANCE OF EXISTING BENEFITS	6
I.M. TERM OF AGREEMENT	6
ARTICLE II	7
PAY FOR TIME WORKED	7
II.A. WORK PERIODS	7
II.A.1. 56-HOUR SUPPRESSION ASSIGNMENT	7

II.A.2. 40-HOUR STAFF ASSIGNMENT	7
II.A.3. 40-HOUR SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT	7
II.A.4. 40-HOUR SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT - FIRE FIGHTER RECRUIT	8
II.A.5. LIMIT ON CONSECUTIVE HOURS WORKED	8
II.A.6. LIMIT ON OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT	8
II.A.7. CONVERSION OF HOURS BETWEEN 56 AND 40 HOUR ASSIGNMENT	
II.B. ATTENDANCE	8
II.C. WAGE PLAN	9
II.C.1. THIRTEEN-STEP RANGE	9
II.C.2. MOVEMENT THROUGH THE WAGE RANGE	9
II.C.3. FAILURE TO PERFORM EMPLOYEE EVALUATIONS	9
II.C.4. ADVANCE IN WAGE UPON PROMOTION	9
II.C.5. DENIAL OF STEP INCREASE	
II.C.6. APPEALS	
II.D. WAGE	10
II.D.1. ADJUSTMENTS	10
II.E. OVERTIME PAY	10
II.E.1. POLICY	10
II.E.2. DEFINITION OF FLSA OVERTIME	10
II.E.3. OVERTIME PAYMENT SCHEDULE	11
II.E.4. TIME OFF WITH PAY IN LIEU OF OVERTIME	
II.E.5. OVERTIME PAY RATE - FLSA	
II.E.6. OVERTIME PAY - EMPLOYEE RECALL	11
II.E.7. OVERTIME PAY - ON CALL FOR COURT	
II.E.8. OVERTIME PAY - MINIMUM STAFFING LEVEL HIRING	
II.E.9. OVERTIME PAY - FIRE SAFETY OFFICER (FSO)	
II.E.10. OVERTIME PAY - CIVIL SERVICE BOARD MEETINGS	
II.F. OVERTIME PAY - MANDATORY TRAINING	
II.G. UNIFORM CHANGING TIME	
II.H. MINIMUM STAFFING LEVEL	13
II.I. SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT AND INCENTIVE PAYS	13
ILL1 PARAMEDIC SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT PAY	. 13

II.I.2. PARAMEDIC PROGRAM COORDINATOR SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT PAY	7.14
II.I.3. 40-HOUR STAFF AND SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT PAY	14
II.I.4. HAZMAT SPECIALIST/HAZMAT TEAM MEMBER SPECIAL ASSIGNM PAY	
II.I.5. BATTALION CHIEF'S AIDE SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT PAY	15
II.I.6. BILINGUAL SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT PAY	15
II.I.7. SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT SHOOTING PAY	15
II.I.8. EDUCATIONAL INCENTIVE PAY	15
II.I.9. CERTIFIED RELIEF DRIVER INCENTIVE PAY	17
II.I.10. EMERGENCY MEDICAL TECHNICIAN PAY	17
II.I.11. LONGEVITY PAY	17
II.J. WORKING OUT OF CLASS	17
II.J.1. POLICY	17
II.J.2. BENEFIT	18
II.K. PROVISIONAL APPOINTMENTS	18
II.K.1. POLICY	
II.K.2. PROCEDURE	
II.K.3. DURATION OF PROVISIONAL APPOINTMENT	18
II.K.4. ADVANCE IN WAGE/BENEFITS-PROVISIONAL APPOINTMENTS	
II.K.5. ANNUAL REVIEW/RAISE DATE-PROVISIONAL APPOINTMENTS	
ARTICLE III	
PAY FOR TIME NOT WORKED	20
III.A. HOLIDAYS	20
III.A.1. ENTITLEMENT	20
III.A.2. HOLIDAY ROUTINE 56 HOUR EMPLOYEES	20
III.A.3. 40 HOUR EMPLOYEE WORKING HOLIDAYS	20
III.A.4. HOLIDAY PAY - SUPPRESSION PERSONNEL	21
III.B. SICK LEAVE	21
III.B.1. USE	
III.B.2. NOTICE	
III.B.3. SICK LEAVE REVOKED	21
III.B.4. RETURN TO WORK	21
III.B.5. SICK LEAVE WITHOUT PAY	22

III.B.6. SICK LEAVE ACCRUAL	22
III.B.7. COMPENSATION FOR ACCRUED SICK LEAVE	22
III.C. VACATION	22
III.C.1. ACCRUAL	22
III.C.2 ACCUMULATION	23
III.C.3. COMPENSATION FOR ACCRUED VACATION-LEAVE	
III.C.4. VACATION SELECTION POLICY	
III.D. PERSONAL LEAVE	
III.D.1. INTENT	
III.D.2. ACCRUALIII.D.3. USE – 56 HOUR EMPLOYEES	
III.D.4. USE – 40 HOUR EMPLOYEES	
III.E. JURY SERVICE	
III.F. MATERNITY LEAVE	25
III.F.1. TERMINATION & REINSTATEMENT	26
III.G. LEAVE - DEATH IN FAMILY	26
III.G.1. POLICY	26
III.G.2. DEFINITION - MEMBER OF FAMILY	26
III.H. INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT LEAVE	26
III.I. MILITARY LEAVE OF ABSENCE	27
III.J. EMERGENCY LEAVE	27
III.K. SHIFT-OFF EXCHANGES	27
III.L. QUALIFIED RELIEF	27
III.M. TIME OFF FOR RELIGIOUS SERVICES	28
III.N. TIME OFF FOR MUNICIPAL, COUNTY AND STATE ELECTIONS	28
III.O. TIME OFF FOR CIVIL SERVICE BOARD MEETINGS	28
III.P. LEAVE POLICIES	29
III.P.1. RETURN AT EXPIRATION OF LEAVE	29
III.P.2. REFUSAL OF LEAVES OF ABSENCE	29
III.P.3. LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY	29

III.Q. FAMILY LEAVE	29
ARTICLE IV	
BENEFITS	
IV.A. PERS	30
IV.A.1. PERS EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTION	
IV.A.2. SURVIVORS BENEFITS	
IV.A.3. FINAL COMPENSATION	
IV.A.4. MILITARY SERVICEIV.A.5. OPTIONAL SETTLEMENT 2 DEATH BENEFIT	
IV.B. 125 FLEX BENEFIT PLAN	
IV.B.1. MONTHLY CONTRIBUTION TO 125 FLEX BENEFIT PLAN	
IV.B.2. ELIGIBILITY FOR 125 FLEX BENEFIT PLAN BENEFITS	
IV.B.3. DENTAL PROGRAM	
IV.C. LIFE AND AD&D INSURANCE	
IV.D. ADDITIONAL RETIREMENT BENEFITS	35
IV.D.1 RETIREE BENEFIT	35
IV.D.2. BURBANK EMPLOYEES' RETIREE MEDICAL TRUST (BERM)	
IV.D.3. POST-EMPLOYMENT HEALTH PLAN (PEHP)	
IV.D.4. 401 (A) PLAN	
IV.E. UNIFORM ALLOWANCE	36
IV.F. AFTER HOURS EDUCATION REIMBURSEMENT PROGRAM	36
IV.G. EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM	37
IV.H. CRITICAL INCIDENT STRESS MANAGEMENT	37
IV.I. PERSONAL EXPOSURE RECORD	37
IV.J. SICK LEAVE CONVERSION	37
IV.K. MEDICARE	37
IV.L. HEALTH AND FITNESS	38
IV.L.1. MEDICAL SURVEILLANCE PROCEDURES	38
IV.L.2. WELLNESS-FITNESS PROGRAM	38
IV.L.3. PHYSICAL FITNESS PARTNERSHIP PROGRAM	39
IV M. DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES LICENSE REIMBURSEME	NT 30

IV.N. PYI DISABILITY INSURANCE	39
IV.O. OPERATIONAL ASSIGNMENT BID SYSTEM	39
ARTICLE V	41
MISCELLANEOUS	41
V.A. PROBATIONARY PERIOD	41
V.A.1. ONE YEAR PERIOD	41
V.A.2. EXTENSION OF PROBATION	41
V.A.3. TERMINATION OF PROBATIONARY APPOINTMENT	41
V.A.4. RETURN OF REJECTED PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE TO POSITION	
V.A.5. DISPLACEMENT BY REINSTATEMENT OF ANOTHER TO POSITION	
V.B. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	
V.B.1. DEFINITION OF GRIEVANCE	41
V.B.2. PROCEDURAL STEPS	42
V.B.3. WRITTEN PRESENTATION	42
V.B.4. TIME LIMITATIONS	43
V.C. DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE	43
V.C.1. RESPONSIBILITY	43
V.C.2. INVESTIGATIONS	43
V.C.3. ADMINISTRATION OF DISCIPLINE	44
V.C.4. PRE-DISCIPLINARY HEARING	44
V.C.5. APPEAL OF DISCIPLINE	45
V.D. ZERO TOLERANCE POLICY	45
V.E. LAYOFF, DISPLACEMENT AND RECALL	46
V.E.1. PURPOSE	46
V.E.2. SENIORITY	46
V.E.3. LAYOFF	46
V.E.4. DISPLACEMENT	
V.E.5. PROCEDURE	
V.E.6. RECALL	
V.E.7. BENEFIT CONSIDERATIONS	
V.E. RETURN FROM TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENT	51

	V.G. TRAINING	. 51
	V.H. OPEN COMMUNICATIONS	. 51
	V.I. FLAG ETIQUETTE	. 52
	V.J. NOTIFICATION OF UNION	. 52
	V.K. LIGHT DUTY ASSIGNMENT	. 53
	V.L. COMMON MEAL SITE CONTRIBUTION	. 53
	V.M. MOU COPIES	. 53
	V.N. NEPOTISM POLICY	. 53
	V.N.1. PROMOTIONAL CANDIDATE APPEAL PROCESS	. 53
	V.O. LABOR/MANAGEMENT COMMITTEES	. 54
	V.P. SCORING OF PROMOTIONAL EXAMINATIONS	. 54
	V.Q. LABOR ORGANIZATION IDENTIFICATION	. 54
	V.R. DEFINITIONS	. 54
E	XHIBIT A	. 56
	PERFORMANCE EVALUATION	. 56
E	XHIBIT B	. 61
В	FF 48/96 POLICY AND OBJECTIVES	. 61
IN	IDEY	61

# ARTICLE I RIGHTS AND PLEDGES

#### I.A. RECOGNITION

Burbank Fire Fighters, International Association of Fire Fighters, (hereafter referred to as the IAFF), Local No. 778 AFL-CIO, CLC ("Union"), is the recognized employee organization for all personnel ("employees") employed by the City of Burbank ("City") in the classifications of Fire Fighter, Fire Engineer, Deputy Fire Marshal and Fire Captain.

#### I.B. MUTUAL PLEDGE OF ACCORD

Inherent in the relationship between the City and its employees is the obligation of the City to deal justly and fairly with its employees and of the employees to cooperate with their fellow employees and the City in the performance of its public service obligation. In the interest of promoting and ensuring harmonious relations between the City and its employees, authorized representatives of the City and the Union have met and conferred in good faith, exchanging various proposals concerning wages, hours, working conditions, and other terms and conditions of employment of the employees. The authorized representatives of the City and the Union have reached an understanding and agreement as to wages, hours, working conditions, and other terms and conditions of employment of the employees which shall be submitted to the City Council of the City for approval and implementation of the terms and conditions by appropriate ordinance, resolution, or other lawful action.

#### I.C. NON-DISCRIMINATION

The provisions of this Agreement shall be applied equally to all employees without unlawful discrimination as to age, sex, marital status, race, color, ancestry, religious creed, disability, national origin, political or labor affiliation. Any violation of this provision by the City shall be subject to immediate correction; any violation by the Union shall also be subject to immediate correction.

#### I.D. CITY RIGHTS

#### I.D.1. General

Responsibility for management of the City and direction of its work force is vested in City officials and department heads whose powers and duties are specified by law. The rights of the City include but are not limited to the exclusive right to: (1) determine the mission of its constituent departments, commissions and boards; (2) set standards of service; (3) determine the procedures and standards of selection for employment and promotion; (4) direct its employees; (5) take disciplinary action; (6) relieve its employees from duty because of lack of work or for other legitimate reasons; (7) maintain the efficiency of governmental operations; (8) determine the methods, means and personnel by which government operations are to be conducted; (9) determine the allocation and content of job classifications; (10) take all necessary actions to carry out its mission in emergencies; and (11) exercise complete control and discretion over its organization and technology of performing its work.

# I.D.2. Reserved Rights

The City shall have all other rights and prerogatives including those exercised

unilaterally in the past, subject only to express restrictions on such rights, as are provided in this Agreement.

#### I.E. UNION RIGHTS

#### I.E.1. Union Access

Duly authorized representatives of the Union shall have access to the locations where work is being carried on, during working hours, for the purpose of observing working and safety conditions, investigating grievances, and seeing that the provisions of this Agreement are observed, provided that the employees are not interfered with in their work. This shall include, but is not limited to Fire Stations, drill grounds, and emergency scenes.

# I.E.2. Pay For Union Business

Employees, as designated by the President of the Union who are engaged in official Union Business related to cohesive labor-relations with the City, will be allowed time off without loss of pay, including any applicable Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) compensation from regular scheduled duty to attend any scheduled meeting, community event, training, convention or seminar. In the event such meetings extend beyond the usual working hours, no compensation shall be paid by the City for time outside of regular working hours and work periods (off-duty).

- **I.E.2.a.** It shall be the responsibility of the Union President to properly inform and request the use of this "Union Leave" through the Fire Chief. Except in the case of exigent circumstances relating to the provision of essential services to the City of Burbank, the leave shall be granted.
- **I.E.2.b.** The Union shall have an aggregate of 1456 hours (56 hour schedule) or 1040 hours (40 hour schedule) during a two year period of time. This two year cycle shall commence effective July 1, 2009. This cycle is in recognition of the "biannual" nature of many officially sanctioned Union conventions, training seminars, etc. It shall be the responsibility of the Union to maintain an accurate accounting of the hours utilized under this section.
- **I.E.2.c.** It is acknowledged that due to the employees' unique work schedule, a significant amount of time spent with representatives of the City negotiating, attending committee meetings, etc. are performed without pay in an off-duty status. Therefore, if a Union-designated representative is participating in an activity at the behest of the City and the Union representative is able to respond to an emergency, the time spent in said activity shall not count against the aggregate hours total.
- **I.E.2.d.** At no time shall the Union Leave be utilized for political purposes.

#### I.E.3. Bulletin Boards

Bulletin boards shall be furnished by the City for the use of the Union at each reporting location. The following types of notices, provided they are not of a political, commercial or controversial nature, may be posted after they are signed by an Officer or Representative of the Union:

**I.E.3.a.** Notices of recreational or social affairs of the Union;

- I.E.3.b. Notices of Union elections and appointments, and
- **I.E.3.c.** Notices of business meetings of the Union.
- **I.E.3.d.** Notices of any other type not listed above shall first be approved by an appropriate supervisor before they are posted.

#### I.F. SAFETY

#### I.F.1. Commitment

The City and the Union reaffirm their joint commitment to ensure safety in the work place and to maintain a continuous awareness of safety procedures and accident prevention guidelines. It shall be the responsibility of the City to ensure compliance with safety and health standards, rules and practices. It shall be the responsibility of employees to act on recognition of the fact that their primary responsibility is careful observance of all applicable safety rules and safe working practices.

# I.F.2. Obligations

- **I.F.2.a.** When engaged in emergencies or any and all activities, employees shall exercise proper precautionary measures to avoid injuries to self or others.
- **I.F.2.b.** Employees shall comply with provisions of the Burbank Fire Department and City of Burbank Safety Rules and Standards.
- **I.F.2.c.** All accidents causing damage or injury will be investigated thoroughly and the results made available to all employees to reduce the likelihood of a recurrence.

#### I.F.3. Safety Committee

In order to maintain a high level of oversight to the health and safety of all Burbank Fire Department employees, a Standing Health and Safety committee shall be established. The Committee shall take a proactive approach to workplace health and safety.

- **I.F.3.a.** The Department and Union shall jointly be committed to raising the expertise of committee members. The Committee shall consist of the following members:
  - **I.F.3.a.** (1) The Training and Safety Battalion Chief shall act as the Chair of the Committee.
  - **I.F.3.a. (2)** One (1) "at-large" employee of the department, appointed by the Fire Chief.
  - **I.F.3.a. (3)** The Burbank Fire Department representative to "SAFER" or like organization.
  - **I.F.3.a. (4)** Two members of the Burbank Fire Fighters, Local No. 778, appointed by the President of the Burbank Fire Fighters, Local No. 778. All provisions of Article I.E.2 shall apply.

- **I.F.3.a. (5)** The City of Burbank Safety Officer.
- **I.F.3.b.** This Committee shall meet monthly or more often if deemed necessary by a majority of the committee members. They shall be responsible for:
  - **I.F.3.b.** (1) Reviewing all accident reports, Post Incident Analyses (F-T-7), and all departmental safety bulletins.
  - **I.F.3.b.** (2) Seeking positive motivation for accident awareness and prevention.
  - **I.F.3.b. (3)** Providing recommendations for the purchase and maintenance of all health and safety related items.
  - **I.F.3.b. (4)** Providing recommendations to the Physical Fitness Committee as appropriate to promote wellness and reduced work-related injuries.
  - **I.F.3.b. (5)** Publishing the Safety committee meeting minutes signed by the Chairperson and Recording Secretary.

### I.G. ACCESS TO PERSONNEL RECORDS

Employees shall have reasonable access to their official personnel and medical files. Employees desiring to review the content of their file(s) may do so by arranging an appointment with the Employee Relations Division. A representative of the Employee Relations Division will remain present during the employee's review of the file(s).

Employees may also review their departmental personnel files by arranging an appointment with a representative of the Fire Department.

#### I.H. DUES DEDUCTIONS

#### I.H.a. Union Dues

The City shall deduct and remit monthly to the Union, dues required of such employees as certified by a duly authorized representative of the Union, provided such deduction is authorized in writing by the individual employee. Such deduction shall continue unless written notice of cancellation is given to the City. The City shall have no liability to collect Union dues for any month in which employee's, during their last full pay period, receives, after legal deductions, pay less than the amount of such dues. In addition, the Union shall indemnify and save the City harmless from any liability resulting from any and all claims, demands, suits or other action arising from compliance with this Article.

# I.H.b. Firefighter's Club Dues

The City shall deduct and remit monthly to the Firefighters' Club, dues required of such employees as certified by a duly authorized representative of the Firefighters' Club. Participation in the Firefighters' Club is mandatory. The City shall have no liability to collect Firefighters' Club dues for any month in which employees, during their last full pay period, receives, after legal deductions, pay less than the amount of such dues. In addition, the Firefighters' Club shall indemnify and save the City harmless from any liability resulting from any and all claims, demands, suits or other

action arising from compliance with this Article. Method of deduction shall be by mutual agreement.

#### I.I. STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS

During the term of this Agreement, no work stoppages, strikes, slowdowns, or other concerted efforts to affect work performance shall be caused or sanctioned by the Union; and no lockouts shall be made by the City. In the event any employees covered by this Agreement, individually or collectively, violate the provisions of this Article and the Union fails to exercise good faith in halting the work interruption, the Union and the employees involved shall be deemed in violation of this Article and the City shall be entitled to seek any and all remedies or initiate any and all actions at its discretion available to it under applicable law.

### I.J. FULL UNDERSTANDING, MODIFICATIONS, WAIVER

- **I.J.1.** This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) sets forth the full and entire understanding of the parties regarding the matters set forth herein. Any other prior or existing understanding or agreements by the parties, whether formal or informal, regarding any such matters are hereby superseded or terminated in their entirety.
- I.J.2. Except as specifically provided herein, it is agreed and understood that each party hereto voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives its right and agrees that the other shall not be required to negotiate with respect to any matter covered herein or with respect to any other matters within the scope of negotiations, during the term of this MOU, however, in the event that planned operational changes in the delivery of EMS services are to be implemented that may impact working conditions or compensation, the Fire Department and union agree to negotiate the impact of these changes during the term of the MOU.
- **I.J.3.** No agreement, alteration, understanding, variation, waiver or modification of any of the terms or provisions contained herein shall in any manner be binding upon the parties hereto unless made and executed in writing by the parties hereto, and, if required, approved and implemented by the City Council.
- **I.J.4.** However, nothing contained in this Article shall be construed as giving the City the right to institute unilateral changes in existing wages, hours, or other terms and conditions of employment during the term of this MOU except as otherwise provided in this MOU.
- **I.J.5.** The waiver of any breach, term, or condition of this MOU by either party shall not constitute a precedent in the future enforcement of all its terms and provisions.

#### I.K. SAVINGS CLAUSE

If any term or provision of this MOU is found to be in conflict with any City, State, or Federal law, the parties agree to meet promptly, and as often as necessary, to expeditiously renegotiate this term or provision. All other terms and provisions of this MOU shall remain in full force and effect during the period of such negotiations and thereafter until their normal expiration date. The parties understand that many of the

employees covered by this Memorandum of Understanding may also be covered by the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as amended 29 U.S.C. Section 201, et seq. (FLSA). The parties further understand that a memorandum dated May 19, 1986 from Curtis V. Reynolds, Fire Chief, to All Members of the Burbank Fire Department, shall serve as the City's compliance document under FLSA. Such memorandum is incorporated into this document. To the extent that any provision herein conflicts with the FLSA, employees covered by the FLSA shall receive benefits required thereunder and any additional benefits set forth herein, if compatible, with FLSA. In the event that any or all of the provisions of the FLSA are no longer applicable to employees covered due to legislation or judicial action(s) the conditions set forth in this Memorandum of Understanding so effected shall be declared null and void and conditions changed herein as a result of the FLSA shall revert back to those in effect prior to the effective date of the act.

#### I.L. MAINTENANCE OF EXISTING BENEFITS

Except as provided in this MOU, wages, hours, working conditions, other terms and conditions of employment, retirement benefits, insurance benefits, leaves, vacations, holidays, and other benefits presently enjoyed by affected employees shall not be changed by virtue of entering into this MOU.

# I.M. TERM OF AGREEMENT

The term of this Agreement shall commence on July 1, 2022, and shall continue in effect until June 30, 2025.

Further, in the event the City and BFF negotiate and agree to retroactive wage increases, such retroactive payments will not be determined by recalculating each individual BFF employee's pay for each pay period during the agreed upon retroactive time period. Each employee shall instead receive a payment equal to the percentage wage increase due to their title applied to the amount of base wage, and any additional earnings calculated on base wage, earned during the agreed upon retroactive time period.

The City and BFF agree the procedure to calculate retroactive payments set forth above will closely approximate the retroactive payments due to employees rather than exactly calculate the payments. The City and BFF agree this procedure significantly shortens the time needed to calculate retroactive payments, which benefits BFF employees, and also significantly reduces the City's administrative effort expended in calculating the payments, which benefits the City.

# ARTICLE II PAY FOR TIME WORKED

#### II.A. WORK PERIODS

# **II.A.1. 56-Hour Suppression Assignment**

Suppression employees who are assigned to work either a Kelly schedule or a 48/96 schedule work an average of 56 hours per week ("56 hour employees").

# II.A.1.a. Kelly Schedule

The work period for employees assigned to a Kelly schedule consists of-nine (9), twenty-four-hour shifts within a 27-calendar day "FLSA cycle". Each shift shall begin at 0730 hours and shall end 24 hours later, at 0730 the following morning. For the purposes of FLSA compliance, a 27 day work "FLSA cycle", consisting of 204 hours is effective, commencing 0730 hours, April 14, 1986.

The Kelly schedule shall be suspended while the 48/96 schedule is in place.

### II.A.1.b. 48/96 Schedule

Suppression employees shall be regularly scheduled to work a 48/96 schedule, subject to the BFF 48/96 Policy and Objectives (attached hereto as Exhibit B), including the implementation date.

The work period for employees assigned to the 48/96 work schedule shall be a period of 24 consecutive hours, starting at 0700 hours one day and continuing to 0700 hours the next day. A scheduled rotation will occur after two 24-hour shifts (48 hours), followed by 96 hours off.

# II.A.2. 40-Hour Staff Assignment

The work period for employees assigned to a 40-hour staff assignment (40 hr. employees) shall be five (5), eight (8)-hour days (7.5 hours of work and 0.5 hours for lunch) within one (1) calendar week or an alternate work schedule. In order to accommodate both internal and external customer service, 40 hour staff employees may be allowed a flexible start/stop time at the discretion of the Fire Chief. Divisional responsibilities will be the priority in determining an alternative schedule. For the purposes of FLSA compliance, a 7-day work "FLSA cycle", consisting of 53 hours is effective, commencing 0800 hours, April 14, 1986. For the purpose of this section, the words "staff assignment" shall be defined as assignment by the Fire Chief to a 40-hour work week by Personnel Action Form.

# II.A.3. 40-Hour Special Assignment

The work period for employees temporarily assigned to a 40-hour Special Assignment (56 hr. employees) shall be five (5), eight (8) hour days (7.5 hours of work and 0.5 hours for lunch) within one (1) calendar week or an alternate work schedule. In order to accommodate both internal and external customer service, 40 hour Special Assignment employees may be allowed a flexible start/stop time at the discretion of the Fire Chief. Divisional responsibilities will be the priority in determining an alternative schedule. For payroll purposes, said employee shall remain on a 56-hour work week. For the purpose of FLSA compliance, a 27-day work "FLSA cycle",

consisting of 204 hours is effective, commencing 0730 hours, April 14, 1986.

# II.A.4. 40-Hour Special Assignment - Fire Fighter Recruit

Employees assigned as a Fire Fighter Recruit shall receive pay at 90% of the first step of the Firefighter position, exclusive of all special assignment and incentive pays and shall be unrepresented until completion of the recruit academy. Upon successful completion of the recruit academy, employees shall receive representation and compensation in accordance with the provisions of this MOU.

#### II.A.5. Limit on Consecutive Hours Worked

Affected employees shall be limited to a maximum of 120 consecutive hours of time worked followed by a minimum of 6 hours off-duty time. Exception: The Fire Chief may authorize an extension of the consecutive hours worked for employees deployed or as a result of deployment under State or Federal Mutual Aid.

# **II.A.6. Limit on Outside Employment**

The FLSA defines certain kinds of work performed by off-duty employees for other employers as "Joint Employment" under conditions where the work is of a similar nature or skill to that performed on duty. Current department policies requiring all off-duty employment to be approved by the Fire Chief will be strictly enforced to insure that joint employment situations do not arise. All employees are hereby prohibited from knowingly accepting or performing any work which might pose a conflict with provisions of FLSA without prior approval of the Fire Chief or authorized representative.

# II.A.7. Conversion of Hours between 56 and 40 Hour Assignments

A conversion factor shall be used when an employee is transferred from a 40-hour assignment to a 56-hour assignment or vice versa to appropriately reflect leave balances. When an employee is transferred from a 40-hour assignment to a 56-hour assignment, all applicable leave balances shall be multiplied by the appropriate conversion factor. A 56-hour employee being transferred to a 40-hour assignment shall have all applicable leave balances divided by the appropriate conversion factor.

II.A.7.a. In-lieu Time: 1.4

**II.A.7.b.** Sick Leave: 1.5

**II.A.7.c.** Vacation Leave: 1.8

#### II.B. ATTENDANCE

- **II.B.1.** Employees shall be in attendance at their assignment during the regular hours of work (on duty) and shall not absent themselves while on duty for any reason without the prior approval of the Fire Chief except in the case of emergency.
- **II.B.2.** Absence without prior approval for five (5) consecutive days for 40 hour/week Employees or three (3) consecutive shifts for 56 hour/week employees during any calendar year shall, at the discretion of the Fire Chief, be considered an automatic resignation.

#### **II.C. WAGE PLAN**

# II.C.1. Thirteen-Step Range

Wage ranges for employees in the Union represented classifications shall be expressed in a thirteen-step wage range.

There shall be a difference of two and one-half percent (2.5%) between steps.

# II.C.2. Movement Through the Wage Range

Affected employees below the thirteenth step of the wage range shall be considered for wage adjustment on an annual basis and may receive an adjustment of up to three (3) steps within a year. The Fire Chief shall have the authority to grant step increases. Initial adjustments for employees at step one of an affected classification shall be made effective on the sixth month of service if the employee's performance at the six month Subsequent adjustments shall be considered annually period is satisfactory. thereafter. Wage adjustments due shall be made effective on the first day of the next pay period after the employee's anniversary date. Increases within the wage range shall be based upon satisfactory job performance as documented by performance evaluation. The Fire Chief shall have the authority to grant wage adjustments more than once annually only to the extent that an employee not exceed an increase of three The standard adjustment for satisfactory job steps within a one year period. performance shall be two steps. For the purpose of wage adjustment considerations, employees shall be evaluated annually and may be evaluated on a more frequent basis at the Fire Chief's discretion, not to exceed one evaluation every three months. The performance evaluation shall be conducted on forms agreed upon between the City and the Union.

# II.C.3. Failure to Perform Employee Evaluations

Performance evaluations shall be completed by the employee's supervisor, subject to review by the Fire Chief, no less than annually, prior to the employee's anniversary of the employment or promotion date. Failure to complete an evaluation on time will result in an automatic two step advancement, not to exceed top step.

### II.C.4. Advance in Wage Upon Promotion

- II.C.4.a. When an employee is advanced from one rank to another, the employee is to be advanced to the next higher wage and the seniority held in the rank and step from which advanced is to be carried forward to the new rank. The step seniority carried forward is not to exceed twelve (12) months. When an employee has been at top step for one year or longer and is advanced to another title, the employee is to be advanced to the next higher wage plus two steps.
- **II.C.4.b.** An employee assigned supervisory responsibility shall be compensated at a step, which is at least five percent (5%), above the wage step of the highest said employee supervised. Special assignment or incentive pays shall not be considered in setting supervisory pay.

# II.C.5. Denial of Step Increase

An employee who receives two consecutive overall below satisfactory performance evaluation ratings shall not be advanced to the next wage step and shall be notified in writing of such denial. An employee who has had a step increase denied shall be reconsidered for a future wage increase no later than six months following the denial. Any increase shall be based on satisfactory job performance.

# II.C.6. Appeals

An employee who has had a step increase denied may, within ten calendar days of written notification of the denial, request an informal hearing before the Fire Chief and present evidence as to why the step increase should not be denied. The decision of the Fire Chief shall be final.

#### II.D. WAGE

# II.D.1. Adjustments

Effective the beginning of the pay period containing July 1, 2022, the wages for all BFF titles and incumbent employees will be increased by 3%.

Effective the beginning of the pay period containing July 1, 2023, the wages for all BFF titles and incumbent employees will be increased by 4%.

Effective the beginning of the pay period containing July 1, 2024, the wages for all BFF titles and incumbent employees will be increased by 4%.

#### **II.E. OVERTIME PAY**

## II.E.1. Policy

The Personnel Policy of the City of Burbank discourages overtime work. Overtime will not be permitted except in cases of emergency (as determined by the Fire Chief) or when the public health, safety or welfare requires it. The Fire Chief or authorized representative is responsible for giving prior approval of any overtime to be worked except in case of emergency, and shall make every effort to reschedule work to avoid overtime. Overtime usage will be reviewed by the City Manager or designated representative to determine whether the authorized overtime was due to an emergency or that public health, safety or welfare required it. No employee subject to provisions of the FLSA may work overtime without prior permission of the Fire Chief or authorized representative. Employees assigned to a Kelly schedule may not begin their tour of duty prior to 0730 hours of the shift to be worked and may not work past 0730 hours the following morning without prior authorization. Employees assigned to a 48/96 schedule may not begin their tour of duty prior to 0700 hours of the shift to be worked and may not work past 0700 hours 48 hours later without prior authorization.

#### II.E.2. Definition of FLSA Overtime

Overtime is hours on-duty in excess of 182 hours in a 24-day "FLSA cycle" for 48/96 employees, 204 hours in a 27-day "FLSA cycle" for employees assigned to a Kelly schedule, or hours on-duty in excess of 53 hours in a seven-day "FLSA cycle" for 40-hour employees.

# **II.E.3. Overtime Payment Schedule**

Overtime will be paid every pay period; however, the pay period following the end of each 27-day "FLSA cycle" for a Kelly schedule or 24-day "FLSA cycle" for a 48/96 schedule will be used as a reconciliation check to make sure that all proper overtime payments have been made in accordance with the FLSA. In the event that an employee uses sick leave while scheduled on the "shift on-duty" portion of a trade, said employee shall have their overtime compensation adjusted as soon as practical. This means that these second paychecks may be greater or less than the first check.

# II.E.4. Time Off With Pay In Lieu of Overtime

Employees may accumulate in-lieu time to a maximum of 200 hours for 40-hour assignments or 280 hours for 56-hour assignments. However, only employee recall or other overtime mandated by the department may be banked as in-lieu time and only at the discretion and approval of the Fire Chief. All other overtime will be paid.

# II.E.5. Overtime Pay Rate - FLSA

The City will pay 56 hour employees overtime at one and one-half (1½) the regular 56 hourly rate of pay for all hours in excess of 204 hours in a 27-day "FLSA cycle" for a Kelly schedule or 182 hours in a 24-day "FLSA cycle" for a 48/96 schedule, except where otherwise indicated in this Article. Forty (40) hour employees electing to participate in the Minimum Staffing Level (MSL) overtime hiring procedure shall be paid at one and one-half (1½) the regular 56 hourly rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of 53 hours within a seven (7) day "FLSA cycle".

Effective July 1, 2022, all paid leave shall count as hours worked for the purpose of calculating an employee's overtime.

# II.E.6. Overtime Pay - Employee Recall

# II.E.6.a. Disaster, Emergency and Non-Emergency Recall

Overtime paid for disaster, emergency and non-emergency employee recall as defined in the Burbank Fire Department's Policy Manual sections 4.1602 B and C will be at one and one-half (1½) times the 40-hour rate. For purposes of determining hours eligible for overtime payment under the FLSA defined in **Article II.E.2**, disaster, emergency and non-emergency employee recall overtime will not count as hours on-duty towards the 204 hours in a 27-day "FLSA cycle" for employees assigned to a Kelly schedule, 182 hours in a 24-day "FLSA cycle" for employees assigned to a 48/96 schedule, or 53 hours in a 7-day "FLSA cycle" for 40 hour employees.

#### II.E.6.b. MSL Recall

Overtime paid for MSL employee recall as defined in the Burbank Fire Department's Policy Manual section 4.1602 D will be at one and one-half times (1½) the 56 hour rate until the assigned shift staffing falls below 33 or 90% (rounded to the nearest whole number) of the current MSL level due to permanent vacancies, at which time all MSL recall overtime will be paid at one and one-half (1½) the 40 hour rate. For purposes of determining hours eligible for overtime payment under the FLSA defined in **Article II.E.2**, MSL employee recall overtime hours will not count as hours on-duty towards the 204 hours in a 27-day "FLSA"

cycle" for employees assigned to a Kelly schedule, 182 hours in a 24-day "FLSA cycle" for employees assigned to a 48/96 schedule, or 53 hours in a 7-day "FLSA cycle" for 40 hour employees.

# **II.E.6.c. Minimum Payment**

When an employee is recalled back to duty after returning home, or is recalled to duty on a day when the employee would normally be off duty, or is recalled to duty on a platoon to which the employee is not assigned, the employee shall be paid a minimum of four (4) hours of pay at the Employee Recall overtime rate even though the employee works less than four hours. Should an employee so recalled to duty be recalled after having been released from duty, the employee will again be paid a minimum of four (4) hours of pay at the overtime rate provided the employee worked at least four hours during the previous recall to overtime duty, or four hours had elapsed since the previous recall to duty.

# II.E.7. Overtime Pay - On Call for Court

Employees who are "on call" during off-duty hours pursuant to a subpoena issued in a court proceeding to employment shall carry a beeper or leave a telephone number of their location during the period they are on call. Court standby time will be considered off-duty time for purposes of the FLSA. Effective July 1, 1987, employees on call for court shall be entitled to compensation as follows:

- **II.E.7.a.** Two (2) hours of straight time for the morning, or any portion thereof, and two (2) hours of straight time for the afternoon, or any portion thereof, when any such period falls on an employee's day off or vacation and the employee is required to remain available for call. Compensation shall be at the employee's regular rate of pay. Hours compensated under **II.E.7.** shall be considered hours worked for purposes of FLSA.
- II.E.7.b. In the event any such employee is directed to attend court at a time falling within any period for which on-call compensation is provided by this section, the employee shall not be entitled to any such compensation for that portion of such period during which the employee was "on call" but shall be entitled to emergency employee recall overtime pay as defined in Article II.E.6.a.

# II.E.8. Overtime Pay - Minimum Staffing Level Hiring

II.E.8.a. An employee who is voluntarily hired back while off-duty under the provisions of the Minimum Staffing Level Hiring Procedure (MSL), shall be compensated at the regular 56 hourly rate of pay. When applicable, the provisions of **Article II.E.5** shall also apply. An employee hired under the MSL shall be paid a minimum of four (4) hours of pay.

# II.E.9. Overtime Pay - Fire Safety Officer (FSO)

IIE.9.a. Employees voluntarily hired back while off-duty as Standby Fire Safety Officers shall be paid at one and one-half (1½) times the regular rate of pay at the 40-hour rate. For purposes of determining hours eligible for overtime payment under the FLSA defined in **Article II.E.2.** Standby Fire Officer over time shall not count as hours on-duty toward the 204 hours in a 27-day

"FLSA cycle" for a Kelly schedule, 182 hours in a 24-day "FLSA cycle" for a 48/96 schedule, or 53 hours in a seven day "FLSA cycle". Employees hired as Standby Fire Safety Officers shall be paid a minimum of four (4) hours of pay. The initial FSO training will be provided by the department.

**II.E.9.b.** In the event that the employee hired for the FSO assignments has a call time prior to 0730 for employees assigned to a Kelly schedule or 0700 for employees assigned to a 48/96 schedule on his or her off-going shift, it shall be incumbent upon the employee to secure qualified relief. The employee shall be paid in accordance with **Article II.E.9**, for the full time commencing fifteen (15) minutes prior to their scheduled call time.

# II.E.10. Overtime Pay - Civil Service Board Meetings

Employees who are called to appear as a witness at a Civil Service Board meeting or other City-approved hearing procedure as defined in **Article III.O** during off duty hours shall be entitled to overtime pay at one and one-half (1½) times the regular rate of pay at the 40 hour rate. Hours compensated for by this sub-section shall not count as overtime hours on duty as defined in **Article II.E.2.** Appellants shall not receive overtime for such time.

#### **II.F. OVERTIME PAY - MANDATORY TRAINING**

- **II.F.1.** It is recognized that employees required by the department to attend training while off-duty shall be compensated at their regular straight time rate. All provisions of **Article II.E.5.** shall apply. Mandatory training shall be defined as training in which an employee participates to maintain skills, knowledge, and/or abilities of their given job assignment for which the department would consider instituting disciplinary action if it was not attended.
- **II.F.2.** Employees will be paid for travel time according to current City Administrative Procedure.

#### **II.G. UNIFORM CHANGING TIME**

Time spent changing clothes before or after a shift is not considered hours worked and is not compensable in any manner whatsoever.

#### II.H. MINIMUM STAFFING LEVEL

It is acknowledged that the City of Burbank is in a period of budgetary constraint. Therefore, both parties have agreed to alter the daily filing procedures for FY 2009-2010 as a temporary measure to assist the Fire Department in achieving the recommended savings.

#### II.I. SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT AND INCENTIVE PAYS

For the term of this agreement the City and the Union have agreed to maintain the following special assignment and incentive payments:

# **II.I.1. Paramedic Special Assignment Pay**

II.I.1.a. The special assignment pay for employees that are State certified and designated by the Fire Chief as Paramedics and Assessment Medics shall

be based on a percent of Fire Fighter top base wage as follows:

Paramedic Pay Effective June 26, 2022: **20%** Assessment Medic Pay Effective June 26, 2022: **10%** 

# II.I.2. Paramedic Program Coordinator Special Assignment Pay

Effective the beginning of the pay period following Council adoption, Assessment Medics assigned as Paramedic Program Coordinators shall be paid a special assignment pay of 8.68% of base wage in lieu of the Assessment Medic pay.

# II.I.3. 40-Hour Staff and Special Assignment Pay

**II.I.3.a.** Pay for employees while assigned to 40 hour staff and special assignments shall be as follows:

0+ years Fire Fighter =10% of employee's base wage

0-1 Year: Captain = 14.7% of employee's base wage

Engineer = 15.6% of employee's base wage

1+ years: Captain = 16.7% of employee's base wage

Engineer = 17.6% of employee's base wage

**II.I.3.b.** All employees assigned to 40 hour staff and special assignments shall remain in communication with the department. The method of communication will be determined by the department. It is acknowledged by all employees so assigned that this special assignment pay fulfills FLSA compliance.

#### II.I.4. HazMat Specialist/HazMat Team Member Special Assignment Pay

- II.I.4.a. A designated HazMat Specialist/HazMat Team Member shall meet the current training requirements for California OES Type 1 HazMat Team Member/Specialist, fulfill the requirements of the Employee Classification in the Administrative Policy Manual effective as of June 1, 2023, complete the HazMat Team Member task book, and be designated as a HazMat Specialist/Haz Mat Team Member by the Fire Chief.
- **II.I.4.b.** HazMat Specialists/HazMat Team Members regularly assigned to Station 12 shall be paid a special assignment pay of 6% of base pay when assigned.
- II.I.4.c. HazMat Specialists/HazMat Team Members not regularly assigned to Station 12 shall be paid a special assignment pay of 3% of base pay for being qualified. When HazMat Specialists/HazMat Team Members, who are not regularly assigned to Station 12, are assigned to Station 12 during a given regularly scheduled shift, they will receive an additional 3% (for a total of 6%) of their base pay for each consecutive six (6) hour period of time assigned to Station 12.
- II.I.4.d. If an employee is displaced from their bid selection at Station 12, they shall

continue to receive their special assignment pay of 6% and can only be displaced from their bid selection for operational need for a maximum of six months.

II.1.4.e. If during the term of this contract ending June 30, 2025, the Department wants to move the designated HazMat station from Station 12 to another station or remove Station 12 as the designated HazMat station from the MOU entirely, either party may request to re-open Section II.I.4 of the MOU regarding HazMat Specialist/Haz Mat Team Member Special Assignment Pay to meet and confer over the decision to make any changes prior to making any changes to Section II.I.4 and, further, to also meet and confer, prior to implementation of any changes, over any and all impacts to employees created by any such changes.

# II.I.5. Battalion Chief's Aide Special Assignment Pay

Employees regularly assigned to serve as a Battalion Chief's Aide shall be paid a special assignment pay of \$140.15/pay period.

# II.I.6. Bilingual Special Assignment Pay

A bi-lingual special assignment pay of \$100 per month will be paid to qualified employees who are approved to speak a second language. Qualification will be subject to the following criteria:

- **II.I.6.a.** The Fire Chief will determine the need for assignment within the department.
- **II.1.6.b.** Employees desiring to receive the bonus must have their proficiency in a second language evaluated in a manner mutually agreed upon between the City and the Union.

# II.I.7. Special Assignment Shooting Pay

Qualified employees who are assigned responsibility to carry firearms shall receive a monthly special assignment shooting pay as follows:

Qualified as Marksman \$ 0

Qualified as Sharpshooter \$ 7 per month Qualified as Expert \$15 per month Qualified as Distinguished Expert \$30 per month

# II.I.8. Educational Incentive Pay

### II.I.8.a. Policy

The goal of this pay is to encourage employees to further their education during their off-duty time in order to be a more qualified and valuable asset to the City. Effective July 1, 2006, the City shall provide education incentive pay in accordance with the levels listed below to qualified employees upon the successful completion of their recruit academy and submission of the degree, certificate and/or official transcripts.

#### II.I.8.b. Compensation

Compensation shall begin the first pay period following the submission. At no time shall units of college credit earned while attending training in an onduty status and also receiving or having the potential to receive additional compensation for the further education (e.g. paramedic or hazmat school) be used to fulfill the requirements for incentive pay as defined below.

# II.8.c. Qualifying Education

The submission of any units of college credit, certificate or degree shall be from an institution of higher learning accredited or recognized through the Office of the State Fire Marshal or the Western Association of Schools and Colleges, Accrediting Commission for Senior Colleges and Universities (WASCACSCU) or equivalent accrediting institution for units earned from an institution outside the State of California prior to employment with the City of Burbank. Upon employment with the City of Burbank, all coursework from an institution outside the State of California must be verified classroom participation and accreditation through an organization of the same stature as WASCACSCU. NOTE: Any classes taken through the approved alternate means must have access to an instructor. It is incumbent upon the employee to provide proof of compliance with this section. Any questions pertaining to this pay should be addressed prior to the enrollment in the class, program or school.

- **II.I.8.d.** \$60 per month for 30 units of college credit of which a minimum of 21 units shall be fire science/emergency medical courses. The remaining units may be a combination of courses which directly relate to the job description of Fire Fighter (i.e. communication skills, computers, etc.).
- **II.I.8.e.** Effective the beginning of the pay period containing July 1, 2020, increase the educational incentive pay from \$115 per month to \$200 per month for an A.A./A.S. degree in fire science or a related field (i.e. emergency medical technician, business administration, computer programming) OR 60 units of college credit, of which a minimum of 30 units are in fire science/emergency medical technician courses.
- **II.I.8.f.** Effective the beginning of the pay period containing July 1, 2020, increase the educational incentive pay from \$200 per month to \$300 per month for a B.A. or B.S. degree.
- **II.I.8.g.** Effective the beginning of the pay period containing July 1, 2020, increase the educational incentive pay from \$300 per month to \$325 per month for an M.A. or M.S. degree.
- II.I.8.h. Effective the beginning of the pay period containing July 1, 2020, increase the educational incentive pay from \$60 per month to \$100 per month for the completion of the State Fire Marshal's Company Officer courses, which shall be paid in addition to any of the incentives in Sections II.7.a through II.7.g. Employees will be required to provide proof of successful completion of all

Company Officer courses in order to receive this additional pay.

# II.I.9. Certified Relief Driver Incentive Pay

Effective May 3, 2020, employees in the classification of Fire Fighter will be eligible to be compensated at the top base wage step, regardless of whether they maintain a Burbank Fire Department Relief Driver Certification. In addition, employees in the classification of Fire Fighter who obtain and maintain a Burbank Fire Department Relief Driver Certification will receive an incentive pay that is 2% of base wage.

# II.I.10. Emergency Medical Technician Pay

Effective June 26, 2022, BFF employees who possess and maintain an emergency medical technician (EMT) certification will receive 5% of base wage.

# II.I.11. Longevity Pay

- **II.I.11.a.** Effective June 26, 2022, additional compensation will be paid to BFF employees who have completed a minimum period exceeding five years of service as sworn personnel, including years of service as sworn personnel gained at another agency or agencies, as set forth below (percentages are non-compounding):
  - 5 years 2.5% of employee's base wage
  - 10 years 5% of employee's base wage
  - 15 years 7.5% of employee's base wage

Longevity compensation will be paid to employees the beginning of the pay period following their anniversary date of 5, 10, or 15 full years of service as sworn personnel.

**II.I.11.b.** BFF employees that have years of service as sworn personnel with a different agency or agencies shall be responsible for notifying the Fire Department, using a form created by the City, of those years of service and shall also be required to show proof, as determined by the City, of those years of service to receive the associated longevity compensation.

Longevity compensation that includes years of service as sworn personnel with a different agency will be effective the pay period following the date in which the form with proof of those years of service is received and approved by the Fire Department.

#### **II.J. WORKING OUT OF CLASS**

# II.J.1. Policy

It is the policy of the City to pay employees for working out of class due to a temporary position vacancy. When a position becomes vacant, the Fire Chief may designate that an employee be assigned to work out of classification. Working out of class is a temporary job assignment, paid on a shift to shift or day to day basis, and shall not be considered a provisional appointment. No Personnel Action Form (PAF) shall be issued.

#### II.J.2. Benefit

When a temporary job assignment for an employee in an affected classification is to be in excess of 40 consecutive hours for a 40 hour staff assignment, said employee shall receive a payment of \$25 for a workday for all days worked out of class. If an employee in a 40 hour staff assignment works in excess of 40 hours, such pay shall be retroactive to the first working out of class day. When a temporary job assignment for an employee in an affected classification is to be for the duration of 24 consecutive hours in a 56 hour assignment, said employee shall receive a payment of \$150 for the shift worked, paid in four-hour increments (employees receive \$25 for every consecutive four hours of Working Out Of Class for a total of \$150 per 24-hour shift). It is not the intent of this section to additionally compensate employees in accordance with **Article II.C.4.b.** when temporarily assigned supervisory duties.

# II.K. PROVISIONAL APPOINTMENTS

# II.K.1. Policy

Provisional appointments may be made while waiting for an incumbent to return to full duty following an extended illness or injury or while awaiting the establishment of a promotional list. The determining factor in these decisions will be the length of time the position will be vacant, how many transfers will have to be made to accommodate the provisional appointment and any other circumstances that may outweigh the advantages of such a move. The ultimate decision to start the provisional appointment process lies with the Fire Chief. A provisional appointment is made using a PAF to confirm the position. It is the obligation of the Employee Relations Division to ensure that current promotional lists are maintained at all times. It is the intent of this section to afford a temporary promotional appointment to the employee in order to maintain the optimal efficiency of the Fire Department.

#### II.K.2. Procedure

In order to ensure that a consistent policy regarding provisional appointments is applied, the following criteria will be utilized for provisional appointment to the classifications of Fire Engineer, Fire Captain, and Fire Battalion Chief. If a current list exists, appointments will be made from the list following the rule of three (3). If the list is exhausted, or no current list exists, appointment will be made from among those interested employees having completed eligibility requirements for the position. Employees will also be required to submit a resume listing their experience.

# **II.K.3. Duration of Provisional Appointment**

A provisional appointment shall not last more than twelve (12) months in a 24 consecutive month period.

# II.K.4. Advance in Wage/Benefits-Provisional Appointments

- **II.K.4.a.** Provisional appointments shall be advanced in wage in accordance with **Article II C.4.a.** and **b**.
- **II.K.4.b.** Employees receiving a special assignment pay prior to the provisional appointment shall not receive said pay while in the provisional position. The

employee shall instead receive a wage advance placing them at a wage rate that exceeds the employee's previous base wage rate, plus special assignment pay. If the employee continues to perform the special assignment duties, then the provisions of **Article II.K.4.a** shall apply in addition to retaining the special assignment pay.

- II.K.4.c. Employees appointed as a provisional Fire Battalion Chief shall be entitled to all benefits of that classification and shall be governed by the Burbank Fire Fighters Chief Officers Unit (BFF-COU) MOU for the duration of their provisional appointment only. Upon the completion of the provisional appointment employees, unless promoted in accordance with Civil Service Rules, shall be returned to their previous classification and be governed by this MOU.
- **II.K.4.d.** An employee in a provisional position shall continue to accrue seniority for the purpose of movement through the wage range in accordance with **Article II.C.2.**

# II.K.5. Annual Review/Raise Date-Provisional Appointments

If a provisional appointment results in a probationary/permanent promotional appointment without a return to previous class, the employee's annual review/raise date shall be the first day of the provisional appointment. Seniority in rank will be based on probationary appointment date. This does not affect the employee's seniority date for any other seniority-based purpose.

# ARTICLE III PAY FOR TIME NOT WORKED

# III.A. HOLIDAYS III.A.1. Entitlement

The following legal holidays shall be observed:

January 1st, known as "New Year's Day";

Third Monday in January, known as "Martin Luther King Jr. Day";

February 12th, known as "Lincoln Day";

Third Monday in February, known as "Washington Day";

Last Monday in May, known as "Memorial Day":

June 19th, known as "Juneteenth National Independence Day";

July 4th, known as "Independence Day";

First Monday in September, known as "Labor Day";

September 9th, known as "Admission Day";

November 11th, known as "Veterans' Day";

Last Thursday in November, known as "Thanksgiving Day";

Last Friday in November, known as the Day After "Thanksgiving Day";

December 25th, known as "Christmas Day";

and such other days as may be authorized by resolution of the City Council.

An employee must be in a pay status on either the day preceding or day following the legal holiday to qualify for compensation for that holiday. An individual must be employed by the City of Burbank on the day of the holiday to qualify for holiday pay.

# III.A.2. Holiday Routine 56 Hour Employees

The following days are designated as holiday routine and all 56 hour employees on duty on said days shall only perform emergency duties. All maintenance, training, etc. scheduled for said day shall be canceled.

New Year's Day Easter Sunday Memorial Day Labor Day Thanksgiving Day Christmas Day

#### III.A.3. 40 Hour Employee Working Holidays

40 hour employees shall work two (2) minor holidays per year, in addition to Independence Day. The two (2) minor holidays to be worked shall be designated by the Fire Chief, or an authorized representative, each year and shall be selected from the following days:

February 12<sup>th</sup>, known as "Lincoln Day"; Third Monday in February, known as "Washington Day"; June 19th, known as "Juneteenth National Independence Day" September 9<sup>th</sup>, known as "Admission Day"; November 11<sup>th</sup>, known as "Veterans' Day"; While so assigned, employees shall receive, in addition to the regular rate of pay, compensation at the overtime rate defined in **Article II.E.** 

# III.A.4. Holiday Pay - Suppression Personnel

Effective July 1, 1995, each 56 hour employee shall receive a differential each pay period equal to 1/26 of the sum of 13 holidays' compensation. If a holiday falls on a shift on which 56 hour employees would normally be on duty, they shall work that holiday without additional compensation.

# **III.B. SICK LEAVE**

#### III.B.1. Use

Sick leave shall not be considered as a right which employees may use at their discretion. Sick leave is intended to provide protection against loss of earnings due to illness or injury. Sick leave shall be allowed only in cases of personal illness or injury, illness in the immediate family, or for pre-approved medical or dental appointments. Sick leave may be used if an employee is disabled from a job-incurred injury after exhausting their industrial accident leave. For purposes of sick leave usage, immediate family is defined as any dependent child, parent, and/ or spouse living in the household who is unable to care for themselves in the event of illness.

#### III.B.2. Notice

- **III.B.2.a.** Employees taking sick leave because of personal illness or injury, or illness in the immediate family, shall notify their assigned supervisor prior to the start of affected shift.
- III.B.2.b. Employees shall make every reasonable effort to schedule medical appointments off duty. Employees taking sick leave for a medical appointment shall notify their supervisor not later than the shift prior to that appointment. It is recognized that, on occasion, emergencies do arise. In such instances, employees shall notify their assigned supervisor as soon as practical prior to such an appointment.

#### III.B.3. Sick Leave Revoked

The City Manager shall revoke sick leave if it is determined that the employee is not in compliance with the provisions of **Article III. B.2.a. and b**.

#### III.B.4. Return to Work

III.B.4.a. When employees are absent more than five (5) consecutive work days on sick leave, the employee upon their return to work shall submit a signed document from their medical provider stating that the absence was medically necessary, and any work restrictions, if applicable. If the employee is given work restrictions by their medical provider upon their return to work, the employee will be referred to the City of Burbank's ADA Coordinator.

# III.B.5. Sick Leave without Pay

Sick leave without pay may be granted by the Fire Chief, after accumulated sick leave is exhausted. Application must include a physician's statement in writing showing the need and the duration. The City contribution toward an employee's flex plan shall continue at the normal rate for up to three (3) months.

#### III.B.6. Sick Leave Accrual

- **III.B.6.a.** An employee shall be entitled to eight 8 hours (for a 40 hour employee) or 12 hours (for a 56 hour employee) of sick leave for each calendar month while employed by the City with pay.
- **III.B.6.b.** Absences without pay in excess of 87 hours (for 40 hour employees) or 121.33 hours (for 56 hour employees) in any one-month shall not receive sick leave accrual for that same month.
- **III.B.6.c.** In computing compensation payable for sick leave, the compensation paid shall be the amount the employee would earn during the sick leave period if working at this current rate of pay and work schedule without the inclusion of overtime earnings.

# III.B.7. Compensation for Accrued Sick Leave

An employee or employee's estate shall be entitled to receive a cash payout equal to 60% of the value of their accrued unused sick leave credit, from July 1, 1974 forward, computed from the last base wage of the employee, including all base monthly special assignment and incentive pay. Payment shall be made as soon as practicable following the occurrence of any of the following events:

- III.B.7.a. Death:
- **III.B.7.b.** Resigns when eligible for retirement;
- **III.B.7.c.** Resignation to enter a City elective office without a break in continuity of City service and serves in such office or other City employment until retirement under the City's retirement system; or
- **III.B.7.d.** Lay off because of the abolition of position or employment or because of absence of funds.

#### III.C. VACATION

# III.C.1. Accrual

Employees shall accrue and use vacation as follows:

- **III.C.1.a.** Upon the completion of the first year of employment, six (6) 24 hour shifts for 56 hour employees or two (2) calendar weeks for 40 hour employees per year;
- III.C.1.b. Upon the completion of eight (8) years of continuous service, an additional three (3) 24-hour shifts for 56 hour employees or one (1) calendar week for 40 hour employees shall be added to the allowance currently available and the annual allowance thereafter shall be nine (9) 24 hour shifts for 56 hour

employees or three (3) calendar weeks for 40 hour employees per year;

- III.C.1.c. Upon completion of 17 years of continuous service, an additional three (3) 24 hour shifts for 56 hour employees or one (1) calendar week for 40 hour employees shall be added to the allowance currently available and the annual allowance thereafter shall be twelve (12) 24 hour shifts for 56 hour employees or four (4) calendar weeks for 40 hour employees per year.
- III.C.1.d. Employees with less than one (1) year of service shall only select vacations for the ensuing year equal to the time accrued through December 31st of the partial year of service. The vacation time must be taken after the anniversary date of the employee's hire (e.g. a 56 hour employee with a hire date of September 1 would be eligible to select two (2) shifts of vacation after September 1 in the ensuing year during the annual selection process).
- **III.C.1.e.** All additional vacation time accrued per **Article III.C.1.b.** and **c.** must be selected during the annual selection process, but scheduled after the anniversary date of the employee's hire.
- **III.C.1.f.** Vacation accrued in any current year may be taken in the year in which it is accrued with the consent of the Fire Chief subject to such procedures and limitations as may be specified by the City Manager.
- **III.C.1.g.** Employees absent without pay in excess of 87 hours for 40 hour employees or 121.33 for 56 hour employees in any one (1) month shall not receive vacation accrual for that same month.

#### **III.C.2 Accumulation**

The total vacation accumulation shall be limited to the following amount based on years of employment:

Through completion of eight years	432 hours for 56 hour employees 240 hours for 40 hour employees
Beginning of the ninth year through completion of the seventeenth year	648 hours for 56 hour employees 360 hours for 40 hour employees
Beginning of the eighteenth year and over	864 hours for 56 hour employees 480 hours for 40 hour employees

Once an employee reaches their accumulation limit, vacation hours will stop accruing until their balance falls below the limit.

# **III.C.3. Compensation for Accrued Vacation-Leave**

Upon the completion of employment with the City, an employee, or employee's estate, shall be entitled to receive a cash payout equal to 100% of the value of accrued unused vacation credit, computed from the last base wage of the

employee, including all base monthly special assignment and incentive pay. Payment shall be made as soon as practicable following the termination of employment.

# III.C.3.a. Buy Back of Accrued Vacation Leave

An employee may cash out, at the straight time rate of pay, up to 72 hours of accrued vacation leave, in increments of 24 hours. The employee must notify the department of the request to cash out vacation prior to November 30<sup>th</sup> of the year previous to usage. This request shall be approved by the Fire Chief or designee and the City Manager or designee. At no time may an employee implement this section after vacation selection has taken place in accordance with **Article III.C.4.** Such hours shall be paid on the first pay date in December of the following calendar year.

# **III.C.4. Vacation Selection Policy**

- III.C.4.a. The intent of this policy is to establish a fair method of selecting vacations which will not weaken the City's fire defenses to an intolerable level. The Fire Chief may, at his sole discretion, decrease or eliminate vacation usage when, in the Fire Chief's opinion, any emergency situation exists which in the interest of public safety requires greater levels of staffing.
- **III.C.4.b.** The City and the Union mutually agree to create and carry out a pilot program that modifies the current Vacation Selection Policy. The current Vacation Selection Policy shall stay in place until such pilot program is implemented.

As part of the pilot program, the Union shall consult with the Fire Chief on a monthly basis to evaluate the financial and operational impacts of the program to the Fire Department. Both parties may suggest changes, and the Fire Chief may accept those changes when he determines it is in the best interest of the Fire Department's operations.

The Fire Chief, at his sole discretion, may cease the pilot program on November 30, 2016, May 31, 2017, or December 31, 2017. If the Fire Chief ceases the pilot program on one of those dates, the Vacation Selection Policy will revert back to the method that existed before the pilot program was implemented. The Fire Chief will determine whether the pilot program will continue beyond November 30, 2016 or May 31, 2017, and whether the program will become permanent beyond December 31, 2017.

#### **III.D. PERSONAL LEAVE**

#### III.D.1. Intent

Personal leave shall not be considered a right which employees may use solely at their discretion. Personal leave is intended for use in situations where personal business, non-medical family situations, etc., necessitate time off from work. Personal leave allows the employee the option to use sick leave to receive time off with pay for situations that are not eligible for the use of sick leave. Suppression employees are encouraged to use Qualified Relief or Shift-off Exchanges in these

situations, as Personal Leave negatively impacts manpower.

### III.D.2. Accrual

Twenty-four (24) hours of personal leave shall be available to employees assigned to suppression each fiscal year from their annual accrual of 144 hours of sick leave. Employees on a 40-hour staff or special assignment shall have sixteen (16) hours available each fiscal year from their annual accrual of 120 hours of sick leave.

# III.D.3. Use – 56 Hour Employees

- **III.D.3.a.** Personal leave is available to the employee, based on the following:
  - **III.D.3.a.** (1) The employee has a balance of sick leave available which exceeds the requested amount of personal leave by a minimum of 24 hours.
  - **III.D.3.a.** (2) The employee has the appropriate balance of personal leave available.
  - **III.D.3.a.** (3) The employee shall use personal leave in increments of a minimum of two (2) hours to a maximum of twenty-four (24) hours at one time.

# III.D.4. Use – 40 Hour Employees

- **III.D.4.a.** Personal leave is available to the employee, based on the following:
  - **III.D.4.a.** (1) The employee has a balance of sick leave available which exceeds the requested amount of personal leave by a minimum of sixteen (16) hours.
  - III.D.4.a. (2) The employee has the appropriate balance of personal leave available.
  - **III.D.4.a.** (3) The employee shall use personal leave in increments of a minimum of one (1) hour to a maximum of one day at one time.

#### III.E. JURY SERVICE

III.E.1. All employees will receive regular pay during time actually lost from duty because of jury service. The term "regular pay" means full pay for regularly scheduled duty, which employees would have received had they not been called to jury service, including any special assignment or incentive pay or FLSA overtime compensation that would have resulted from regularly scheduled duty. All time spent on jury leave must be accounted for. Employees must account to the Department for any time off for illness or other reasons, while on jury service. Upon completion of jury service, the employee shall obtain and submit to the Administrative Battalion Chief's Office the warrant for jury fees and mileage. The City Treasurer's Office shall cash the warrant and return to the employee that portion of the warrant covering mileage, and jury fees representing jury service performed by the City employee while off-duty.

#### **III.F. MATERNITY LEAVE**

Maternity leave shall be subject to the City's **Administrative Procedure II-23** regarding Maternity Leave and **Administrative Procedure II-31** regarding Family Leave and Medical Care. Said procedures are incorporated herein as though set forth in full.

#### **III.F.1. Termination & Reinstatement**

When an employee terminates but is reinstated within one (1) year of the date she left work, such reinstatement shall be at the same wage step and without any loss in vacation time or other fringe benefits related to tenure. The employee should not expect reinstatement to the same position unless the position is vacant and available.

# III.G. LEAVE - DEATH IN FAMILY III.G.1. Policy

Employees shall be entitled to absent themselves from work in the event of the death of a member of their immediate family. The City Manager may authorize pay for all or any portion not to exceed three (3) days for 40 hour employees and two (2) shifts for 56 hour employees, of such leave, provided a written request for such pay is filed by the employee. Any absence in excess of leave outlined in this policy shall be in accordance with existing rules.

# III.G.2. Definition - Member of Family

For purpose of "Death in Family Leave" the term "member of the immediate family" is limited to:

- **III.G.2.a.** Any relative by blood or marriage who is residing in the employee's household, or
- **III.G.2.b.** Parents, step-parents, spouses, registered domestic partner, children, step-children, brother, sister, grandparents, grandchildren, great grandparent, great grandchild, son/daughter-in-law, father/mother-in-law, sister/brother-in-law, grandparent-in-law, or responsible guardian or person who has acted in that capacity regardless of place of residence.

#### III.H. INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT LEAVE

Employees compelled to be absent from duty on account of any injury or disease which comes under the State of California Workers' Compensation Insurance and Safety Act, shall receive compensation from the City for each such accident as follows:

- **III.H.1.** The City will pay full wage for up to one (1) year cumulative for each injury, as mandated per Labor Code 4850;
- **III.H.2.** The employee shall be entitled to all sick leave or vacation benefits while on industrial disability leave;
- **III.H.3.** Temporary disability benefits will be paid at the level mandated by the state;
- III.H.4. Employees may be permitted to take as much of their accumulated sick leave or vacation leave which when added to their temporary disability indemnity will result in a payment to them not to exceed 100% of normal gross wage. Normal gross wage shall include all additional assignment and incentive pay to which the employee would have otherwise been entitled, however it shall not include any overtime pay.

### **III.I. MILITARY LEAVE OF ABSENCE**

An employee may be absent on military leave as authorized in Sections 395 through 395.8 of the Military and Veterans Code of California. An employee shall receive their regular pay for a maximum of thirty (30) calendar days each fiscal year as authorized in Sections 395 through 395.8 of the Military and Veterans Code of California. The thirty (30) calendar days shall be those shown on the official military orders. The employee shall furnish to the Fire Chief satisfactory proof of military orders to report for duty and of actual service pursuant to such orders. The employee shall be returned to City service thereafter as provided in said Code.

# **III.J. EMERGENCY LEAVE**

An employee may be excused from duty without loss of pay for emergencies or special circumstances not covered by this MOU. Such leave of absence may be granted by the Fire Chief, not to exceed one day. For longer periods of time, approval of the City Manager is required. Any emergency leaves of absence in excess of fifteen (15) days shall be brought to the attention of the Civil Service Board. Emergency leave may be granted to employees in instances where:

- **III.J.1.** Actual or potential damage to an employee's personal residential property or personal belongings due to natural or civil disasters requires the employee's presence to protect, salvage or restore his property to a safe condition;
- **III.J.2.** Death in the immediate family requires more than the three days of death leave (not to exceed two days of emergency leave);
- **III.J.3.** An employee is subpoenaed to appear in court as a witness;
- III.J.4. Other emergencies or special circumstances not covered by Civil Service Rule XV that requires an employee's absence from work.

### **III.K. SHIFT-OFF EXCHANGES**

The department recognizes that a 56 hour employee's unique duty schedule does result in hardships which create a need to provide a means to exchange shifts with other employees of the department. Shift-off exchanges (trade) shall not be considered a right which employees may use at their discretion, but shall be allowed only in cases of need which can be shown by the requesting employee as necessary and that it will not adversely affect platoon and department operations.

The current Burbank Fire Department policy on trades meets or exceeds all requirements of the FLSA. It is understood that the practice of shift off exchanges shall be voluntary on behalf of each employee involved in the trade. Employees providing the trade shall not have their compensable hours increased as a result of the trade; nor shall the employees receiving the trade have their compensable hours decreased as a result of the trade. "Paybacks" of trades are the obligation of the two employees involved in the trade.

# **III.L. QUALIFIED RELIEF**

The practice of qualified relief (QR) shall be voluntary on behalf of each employee involved in the relief. Employees providing the qualified relief shall not have their

compensable hours increased as a result of the qualified relief; nor shall employees relieved have their compensable hours decreased as a result of the qualified relief. "Paybacks" of qualified relief hours are the sole obligation of the two employees involved in the relief. Any dispute is to be resolved by the involved employees, and under no circumstances will the department be obligated for any further compensation whatsoever to any of the involved employees. The department is not responsible in any manner for hours owed to employees by other employees that leave the employment of the City or are assigned other duties.

### III.M. TIME OFF FOR RELIGIOUS SERVICES

Any employee who desires leave from work to attend religious services on a religious holiday, may be excused by the Fire Chief, or the City Manager, not to exceed three (3) hours per fiscal year. This absence shall be leave without pay unless the employee chooses to use accrued vacation or in-lieu time. Unless the services of employees are required by public necessity or convenience, they shall be allowed to absent themselves as herein provided.

# III.N. TIME OFF FOR MUNICIPAL, COUNTY AND STATE ELECTIONS

Every employee is strongly encouraged to obtain permanent "Absentee Voter" status in accordance with the State law, in order to avoid any potential negative impact on manpower for a given shift. However, if it is not possible to vote "Absentee", time off will be provided employees who, as registered voters, do not have time to vote before reporting for duty or after finishing duty. The employee shall notify the Fire Chief two days (for 40-hour employees) or last shift on-duty (for 56-hour employees) prior to the election of the need and reason for time off. The employee may take as much time off as needed, whether it be at the beginning or the end of the polling hours, yet will only be compensated for a maximum of two hours of regular pay. In the event an employee is hired to work an MSL Overtime in the morning of said Election Day, the requirement to notify the Fire Chief last shift on-duty prior shall be waived. However, any time off needed to vote shall be considered time off without pay for said employee.

# III.O. TIME OFF FOR CIVIL SERVICE BOARD MEETINGS

Employees shall be granted time off without loss of pay to attend meetings of the Civil Service Board which are scheduled while the employee is on-duty, if the employee is: president of an employee organization or authorized representative, if the president is unable to attend; chairman of the Civil Service Committee; present on official business before the Board including an appeal by the employee, or representation of an employee by another for the purpose of appeal; or present because, in the opinion of the Fire Chief the interests of the City are served by having the employee present. Employees may attend Civil Service meetings by notifying the Fire Chief at least 24 hours prior to the meeting. As soon as the business for which the employee is attending the meeting is completed, unless otherwise authorized, the employee must return to duty. An employee who is called to appear as a witness at a Civil Service Board hearing or other City-approved hearing procedure while off-duty shall receive additional compensation defined in **Article II.E.10.** Appellants shall not receive overtime for such time.

#### **III.P. LEAVE POLICIES**

# **III.P.1. Return at Expiration of Leave**

Upon the expiration of any leave, other than a military leave, the employee shall be returned to the same class of position or to any position to which the employee had been eligible to transfer at the time the leave of absence was granted.

### III.P.2. Refusal of Leaves of Absence

- **III.P.2.a.** No leave of absence shall be granted, and if granted it shall be revoked, where the Board determines, after investigation instituted upon its own motion or upon complaint of any resident of the City, that the request for such leave of absence was for any of the following purposes:
  - **III.P.2.a.** (1) Of accepting private employment;
  - **III.P.2.a.** (2) Of enabling employment of a temporary employee to the same position;
  - **III.P.2.a.** (3) Because of political pressure or other improper influence, or;
  - **III.P.2.a.** (4) For a purpose contrary to the good of the service.
- **III.P.2.b.** The order revoking such leave of absence shall specify the effective date thereof and the employee shall be informed of the contents of such order forthwith.

# **III.P.3. Leave of Absence Without Pay**

The City Manager may grant a leave of absence without pay to any employee, upon recommendation of the Fire Chief. The Fire Chief may grant a leave of absence without pay for a maximum of one calendar week. An employee desiring a leave of absence without pay for three continuous calendar days or more shall file a written request thereof on forms provided by the Employee Relations Division. The request shall state the title of the employee's position and the name of the employing department, the beginning and ending dates of the desired leave of absence, and a full statement of the reasons supporting the request. The Fire Chief's approval of a leave of absence without pay for a continuous period up to a maximum of twenty-four hours, may be reported by noting on the time report.

# **III.Q. FAMILY LEAVE**

Employees will be provided family medical leave pursuant to federal and state law.

If employees anticipate the need for family leave, they shall contact the Management Services Department, as soon as possible. The Management Services Department will inform them of the necessary procedures to obtain family leave.

Family Leave shall be subject to the City's **Administrative Procedure II-31** regarding Family Leave and Medical Care. Said procedure is incorporated herein as though set forth in full.

# ARTICLE IV BENEFITS

### IV.A. PERS

# IV.A.1. PERS Employee Contribution

- IV.A.1.a. Effective July 1, 2003, the City has a contract with the Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) to provide safety employees with a 3% @ 55 retirement plan in accordance with Section 21362.1, 21363.1 of the California Government Code. As a result of the Public Employee's Pension Reform Act (PEPRA), effective January 1, 2013, this retirement plan will only be applicable to employees identified by PERS as Classic Members (generally employees who became members of PERS prior to January 1, 2013).
- **IV.A.1.b.** Effective January 1, 2013, as a result of PEPRA, the City is mandated to provide safety employees identified by PERS as New Members (generally employees who became members of PERS on or after January 1, 2013) with a 2.7% @ 57 retirement plan in accordance with Section 7522.25 (a)(b)(c)(d) of the California Government Code.

### IV.A.1.c. Contributions toward PERS Retirement

Effective June 21, 2015, the City shall cease picking up the 9% employee contribution to PERS for Classic Members. Each Classic Member employee shall be responsible for paying the full employee share of PERS contributions, with state and federal income tax on the PERS member contribution deferred to the extent permitted by Internal Revenue Code, 26 USC Section 4.14(h)(2).

As a result of and in accordance with the PEPRA, New Members are required to pay a member contribution equal to one-half of the normal cost rate. The City shall not pay for any portion of the employee contribution in accordance with Section 7522.30 (c) of the California Government Code.

In implementing the provisions of this Section, each affected employee shall be obligated to contribute any increase in employee contributions which may hereafter result from any state or federal enactment or action which mandatorily increases the total employee contribution rate above its current level of nine percent (9.0%) for Classic Members and 10.25% for New Members.

Notwithstanding the Cost Sharing provisions in IV.A.1.d. below, the City shall pay for any increase in the employer rate and shall retain any savings from a decrease in the employer rate and for contribution credits (rebates) from PERS. During the life of this Agreement, earnings may accrue to the City by reason of a reduction of the City's contribution to PERS.

# IV.A.1.d. Cost Sharing

Classic Member employees will pay half the normal cost of their pensions, as determined annually by the CalPERS Actuarial Valuation Report, with a total employee contribution cap of 12.70%. Should the CalPERS Actuarial Valuation Report determine that half the normal cost of Classic Member pensions falls below the total employee contribution of 12.70%, the cost share contribution will be adjusted at that time, to equal half the normal cost. The total employee contribution, including any cost sharing, will continue to be in effect beyond expiration of this MOU. The City and the BFF agree to phase-in this additional employee contribution through the schedule below:

As soon as practical, each Classic Member employee shall contribute an amount equal to 1.00% of compensation earnable towards the employer PERS contribution, which is separate from, and in addition to, the 9% employee contribution described in Section IV.A.1.c. above, for a total contribution of 10.00%.

Effective the beginning of the pay period containing July 1, 2020, each Classic Member employee shall contribute an amount equal to 2.00%, which includes the 1.00% already being paid, of compensation earnable towards the employer PERS contribution, which is separate from, and in addition to, the 9% employee contribution described in Section IV.A.1.c. above, for a total contribution of 11.00%.

Effective the beginning of the pay period containing July 1, 2021, each Classic Member employee shall contribute an amount equal to 3.70%, which includes the 2.00% already being paid, of compensation earnable towards the employer PERS contribution, which is separate from, and in addition to, the 9% employee contribution described in Section IV.A.1.c. above, for a total contribution of 12.70%.

As soon as practical, the City will implement this section of this MOU by processing a PERS contract amendment for Cost Sharing, pursuant to Government Code Section 20516(a) and (b). As part of the PERS contract amendment process, PERS requires BFF employees, through secret ballot, to approve the amendment to the PERS contract. Upon completion of the contract amendment process, the additional cost share contributions made by each employee will be credited to the Classic Member employee's PERS account. If BFF employees do not approve the PERS contract amendment, the City will implement the additional employee contribution set forth in this section as a post taxation deduction from the employees' pay under Government Code Section 20516(f). Since the cost share process under Government Code Section 20516(f) is not part of the PERS contract, the additional cost share contributions made by each employee will *not* be credited to the Classic Member employee's PERS account.

#### **IV.A.2. Survivors Benefits**

Effective July 1, 2003, the retirement benefits shall include Level IV of 1959 Survivor Benefits under Section 21382.4 of the California Government Code and Post-Retirement Survivor Allowance to Continue After Remarriage under Section 21266 of the California Government Code. The cost of this benefit will be paid by the employees. To the extent that the safety (Fire) employees' surplus, held at PERS, is available to abate the payment costs, then this cost will be made from such funds.

# IV.A.3. Final Compensation

The retirement benefits for each employee identified by PERS as a Classic Member are calculated based upon the employee's highest one year's compensation, pursuant to the provisions of Section 20024.2 of the California Government Code.

Effective January 1, 2000, it has been agreed that the employee's compensation shall include the federally mandated FLSA overtime pay for those hours that are required and actually worked in excess of the statutory maximum. This provision only pertains to the normally scheduled three hours worked per week in excess of fifty-three (53) hours. Other types of overtime hours worked during said week shall not be calculated as hours worked for the purpose of calculating the employee's final compensation.

For employees who are identified by PERS as New Members, PEPRA mandates that the final compensation for each employee's retirement benefits be calculated based upon the employee's highest thirty-six months compensation pursuant to the provisions of Section 7522.32 of the California Government Code.

# IV.A.4. Military Service

Retirement benefits shall include Military Service Credit as Public Service pursuant to the provisions of Section 20930.3, Statutes of 1976, of the California Government Code.

# IV.A.5. Optional Settlement 2 Death Benefit

Effective July 1, 2003, the City shall provide the PERS Pre-Retirement Optional Settlement 2 Death Benefit.

# **IV.B. 125 FLEX BENEFIT PLAN**

### IV.B.1. Monthly Contribution to 125 Flex Benefit Plan

- **IV.B.1.a.** The City will contribute the statutory minimum for employees and retirees under the Public Employees' Medical & Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA).
- **IV.B.1.b.** Active employees hired prior to January 1, 2007will receive a base cafeteria amount of \$522.38 per month, from which contribution the physical fitness program contribution (**Article IV.K.2.**) will be deducted. The PEMHCA minimum is included in the base cafeteria amount.
- **IV.B.1.c.** Active employees hired on or after January 1, 2007 will receive a base cafeteria amount of \$350 per month, from which contribution the physical

fitness program contribution (**Article IV.K.2.**) will be deducted. The PEMHCA minimum is included in the base cafeteria amount.

IV.B.1.d. In addition to the §125 Fringe Benefit contribution as provided for in Article IV.B.1.b. and IV.B.1.c. above, the City will make additional §125 contributions towards the cost of medical premiums for eligible employees as shown below. Contributions will be for premium costs only.

# FOR FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES HIRED PRIOR TO 01-01-07 EFFECTIVE DECEMBER 1, 2022

PLAN OPTION	CAFETERIA	ADDITIONAL "UP TO" MEDICAL	TOTAL POTENTIAL ALLOWANCE
1 PARTY	\$ 522.38	\$ 139.62	\$ 662.00
2 PARTY	\$ 522.38	\$ 801.62	\$ 1,324.00
FAMILY	\$ 522.38	\$ 1,197.62	\$ 1,720.00

# FOR FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES HIRED ON OR AFTER 01-01-07 EFFECTIVE DECEMBER 1, 2022

PLAN OPTION	CAFETERIA	ADDITIONAL "UP TO" MEDICAL	TOTAL POTENTIAL ALLOWANCE
1 PARTY	\$ 350.00	\$ 312.00	\$ 662.00
2 PARTY	\$ 350.00	\$ 974.00	\$ 1,324.00
FAMILY	\$ 350.00	\$ 1,370.00	\$ 1,720.00

# FOR FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES HIRED PRIOR TO 01-01-07 EFFECTIVE DECEMBER 1, 2023

PLAN OPTION	CAFETERIA	ADDITIONAL "UP TO" MEDICAL	TOTAL POTENTIAL ALLOWANCE	
1 PARTY	\$ 522.38	\$ 172.62	\$ 695.00	
2 PARTY	\$ 522.38	\$ 867.62	\$ 1,390.00	
FAMILY	\$ 522.38	\$ 1,282.62	\$ 1,805.00	

# FOR FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES HIRED ON OR AFTER 01-01-07 EFFECTIVE DECEMBER 1, 2023

PLAN OPTION	CAFETERIA	ADDITIONAL "UP TO" MEDICAL	TOTAL POTENTIAL ALLOWANCE
1 PARTY	\$ 350.00	\$ 345.00	\$ 695.00
2 PARTY	\$ 350.00	\$ 1,040.00	\$ 1,390.00
FAMILY	\$ 350.00	\$ 1,455.00	\$ 1,805.00

# FOR FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES HIRED PRIOR TO 01-01-07 EFFECTIVE DECEMBER 1, 2024

PLAN OPTION	CAFETERIA	ADDITIONAL "UP TO" MEDICAL	TOTAL POTENTIAL ALLOWANCE
1 PARTY	\$ 522.38	\$ 207.62	\$ 730.00
2 PARTY	\$ 522.38	\$ 936.62	\$ 1,459.00
FAMILY	\$ 522.38	\$ 1,372.62	\$ 1,895.00

# FOR FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES HIRED ON OR AFTER 01-01-07 EFFECTIVE DECEMBER 1, 2024

PLAN OPTION	CAFETERIA	ADDITIONAL "UP TO" MEDICAL	TOTAL POTENTIAL ALLOWANCE
1 PARTY	\$ 350.00	\$ 380.00	\$ 730.00
2 PARTY	\$ 350.00	\$ 1,109.00	\$ 1,459.00
FAMILY	\$ 350.00	\$ 1,545.00	\$ 1,895.00

# IV.B.2. Eligibility for 125 Flex Benefit Plan Benefits

All employees must enroll in one of the PERS Health Benefits Program plans, unless they submit to the City both proof of health coverage and sign a health insurance waiver. Employees who fail to complete either requirement shall not be allowed to utilize their 125 Flex Benefit Plan contributions for any other eligible plans. Employees who meet the requirements shall be allowed to utilize their 125 Flex Benefit Plan contributions for any of the eligible plans, including an approved Deferred Compensation plan, wage set aside, or inclusion into their taxable wage.

### IV.B.3. Dental Program

Effective July 1, 2009, dental insurance shall be provided by the City for all employees at no premium cost, not to exceed \$118.00 per month. Spouses and dependents will be covered if economically feasible under the financial provisions of this Section.

### IV.C. LIFE AND AD&D INSURANCE

Eligible employees may opt to purchase a group term life insurance policy in the amount of \$10,000 with a carrier selected by the City. The premium cost of the policy shall be borne fully by the employee. The City will provide up to \$50,000 Accidental Death and Dismemberment (AD&D) insurance subject to the terms and conditions of the City's policy. This benefit will be provided at no cost to the employees.

### IV.D. ADDITIONAL RETIREMENT BENEFITS

### **IV.D.1 Retiree Benefit**

Effective July of 1996, the City agrees to pay to the Union seventy thousand dollars (\$70,000) per fiscal year of this MOU for the benefit of the retirees. This contribution is paid twice yearly in increments of thirty-five thousand dollars (\$35,000). The first payment is due July 1 of each year and the second payment is due January 1, of each year. The BFF will administer the application of this benefit for its retirees. The BFF and its retirees are solely responsible for the tax treatment of any payments or reimbursements of such amounts to the retirees.

# IV.D.2. Burbank Employees' Retiree Medical Trust (BERMT)

Should the BFF choose to participate in BERMT, the City and all eligible employees will each contribute \$50.00 per pay period (\$108.33/month) per employee to BERMT, effective the beginning of the pay period immediately following BERMT's acceptance of BFF into the program and all implementation documents have been executed by the parties.

### IV.D.3. Post-Employment Health Plan (PEHP)

The City shall contribute \$30.00 per month per employee to Nationwide Retirement Solutions for the PEHP which assists employees with post-employment medical expenses as authorized under Internal Revenue Code § 501 (c) (9). All employees represented by the BFF shall participate. There shall be no individual election by the employee.

The City shall make an additional contribution to an individual employee's PEHP account. At the time of separation, the additional contribution shall be 100% of all accrued leave payout. Payout of sick leave is equal to 60% of the total value of unused accrued sick leave computed from the employee's last base wage upon the happening of one of the following events:

IV.D.3.a. Resignation when eligible for retirement;

IV.D.3.b. Resignation to enter a City elective office without a break in continuity of City service and serves in such office employment until retired under the City's retirement system;

IV.D.3.c. Upon lay off because of the abolishment of position or employment because of absence of funds.

Sick leave earned prior to July 1, 1974, will be available for sick leave use only and will not have monetary value at the time of retirement or death. Any such contribution made pursuant to this section shall be in lieu of the cash out of accrued sick leave provided in **III.B.7** (Compensation for Accrued Sick Leave).

# IV.D.4. 401 (a) Plan

Each eligible employee will contribute on a non-elective basis \$30.00 per month to Nationwide Retirement Solutions 401 (a) Plan. All employees represented by the Union shall participate. There shall be no individual election by the employee. It is agreed that the PEHP and 401(a) Plans are a cooperative agreement between the City and the Union to assist with post-employment medical obligations. The two plans require the contributions of the parties as specified to keep them in effect.

#### IV.E. UNIFORM ALLOWANCE

- **IV.E.1.** The uniform allowance shall be \$1,000 per year, paid in two installments, each six months' pay cycle.
  - **IV.E.2.** The City shall provide all safety equipment, including but not limited to uniform trousers and safety boots.
    - IV.E.2.a. It is recognized that through the City's bid process, the successful vendor for safety boots may not meet the personal needs of the individual employee. In said case, where the employee can show that an alternate purchase meets the specifications as put forth by the Fire Chief, the employee may make the alternate purchase and be reimbursed up to the cost negotiated, with said vendor, through the City's bid process.
  - **IV.E.3.** A prorated uniform allowance for the first year will be advanced to all new Fire Fighter Recruit graduates. Recruit graduates shall be reimbursed up to \$100 upon submittal of appropriate receipts for the following items:
    - 1 dress uniform trousers
    - 1 dress uniform shirt
    - 4 Uniform Nomex<sup>™</sup> shirts
    - 1 Uniform cap
    - 1 Set of uniform work-out clothing
    - 1 Uniform tie
    - 1 Uniform tie bar
  - IV.E.4. Employees on IA or leave without pay shall be paid the full allowance
    - **IV.E.4.a.** No allowance is given to employees on leave without pay for the entire 6 months.
  - **IV.E.5.** Employees shall be paid a prorated allowance of the 6 month pay cycle upon termination.

#### IV.F. AFTER HOURS EDUCATION REIMBURSEMENT PROGRAM

Effective FY 15-16, the City will provide 75% reimbursement up to \$5,000 per fiscal year to employees employed over 30 hours per week for participation in educational programs which provide employees opportunity for personal career development and

benefit the City by increasing the technical and managerial competency of its staff. Reimbursable costs include tuition, texts (including computer software and audio tapes that are required for class participation), receipted parking fees, certain materials and fees for courses which are directly related to the employee's present position or promotion within the City. Costs for retained supplies such as paper, pens, pencils and related supplies are not reimbursable.

The educational reimbursement as provided for in this Section shall be subject to an annual cap of \$20,000 for all BFF employees combined.

# IV.G. EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM

The City shall provide an Employee Assistance Program (EAP) at no premium cost to the affected employees. Any change within benefit levels shall be subject to meet and confer.

# IV.H. CRITICAL INCIDENT STRESS MANAGEMENT

Upon recommendation of the CISM Coordinator, employees involved in a significant incident shall participate in a jointly administered Critical Incident Stress Management (CISM) program that includes the following at City expense:

IV.H.1.a. Critical incident stress defusing and/or debriefings (CISD) as necessary;

**IV.H.1.b.** Peer support;

**IV.H.1.c.** Referral to the Employee Assistance Program (EAP) as needed.

# IV.I. PERSONAL EXPOSURE RECORD

The City shall pay to California Professional Fire Fighters an amount not to exceed \$20.00 per employee per year for the purpose of maintaining a Personal Exposure Record for each affected employee. Employees shall coordinate submission of exposure reports through the department Training Officer.

# **IV.J. SICK LEAVE CONVERSION**

On January 1 of each year, an employee may convert up to a maximum of 30 hours (for 40 hour employees) or 45 hours (for 56 hour employees) accumulated sick leave at fifty percent (50%) cash value for the sole purpose of reimbursing the employee for medical costs not otherwise covered by City PERS medical insurance, accrued during the prior calendar year. This conversion is subject to the following:

- **IV.J.1.** Only employees who have served a minimum of two (2) full-time continuous years of service shall be eligible.
- **IV.J.2.** Reimbursement shall be made only for medical and hospital costs not otherwise covered by the City's medical insurance plan which are incurred by the employee and any dependents covered by the City's medical insurance program. Reimbursement shall not be made for any dental or medical costs not eligible for coverage by the City's medical insurance plan.

### IV.K. MEDICARE

Effective April 1, 1986, all newly hired employees must be covered under

MEDICARE. All newly hired employees will have a deduction from their paycheck to cover the cost of Medicare. The deduction will be based on their gross wage. The deduction and wage requirements are determined by federal regulations. In the event that any or all of the provisions of MEDICARE are no longer applicable to local government due to legislation or judicial action(s), the benefit set forth in this section shall be declared null and void, and the City's requirement to provide this benefit shall cease.

# IV.L. HEALTH AND FITNESS

#### IV.L.1. Medical Surveillance Procedures

The City shall provide a medical surveillance and monitoring program in compliance to NFPA at no cost to the affected employees. Any change within benefit levels shall be subject to meet and confer.

# IV.L.2. Wellness-Fitness Program

The Wellness-Fitness Program is designed to follow the directives of the IAFF-IAFC Wellness-Fitness Initiative. To this end, the Department and Union jointly strive to achieve the goals as outlined in the initiative.

- IV.L.2.a. All 56-Hour employees shall participate in the Wellness-Fitness Program and will be allowed one hour and fifteen (15) minutes (normally scheduled from 0730 to 0845) followed by a fifteen (15)-minute cleanup period each on-duty shift, to participate in physical fitness activities. Activities during this period shall focus on cardio-vascular, muscular strength and endurance conditioning. Participation in team sports is prohibited during this period. Department business needs will take precedence regarding schedule and employees will be allowed to participate at another mutually agreeable time of the shift if it is not possible to do so during the normally scheduled time. If emergency response(s) significantly interfere with the allotted time, the program period may be extended or rescheduled if time permits.
- IV.L.2.b. All 40-Hour staff and special assignment employees shall participate in the Wellness-Fitness Program and will be allowed one hour (normally scheduled from 0630 to 0730) followed by a fifteen (15) minute cleanup period two (2) work days per week to participate in physical fitness activities. The hour shall consist of 30 minutes of off-duty time and 30 minutes of on-duty time. Activities during this period shall focus on cardio-vascular, muscular strength and endurance conditioning. Participation in team sports is prohibited during this period. Department business needs will take precedence when selecting work days to participate in physical fitness activities. Should Department business needs take precedence, employees will be allowed to participate in physical fitness during their allotted meal period.
- IV.L.2.c Wellness-Fitness Program Reopener Clause. In the event that BFF forms a subcommittee and makes progress with Santa Ana College on tailoring a wellness-fitness program specific to the City, the parties agree

to reopen negotiations for Article IV, Section L.2.

# IV.L.3. Physical Fitness Partnership Program

- IV.L.3.a. In July 1994, the City and BFF established a joint Physical Fitness Partnership Program. The City increased the flex benefit at that time by \$3.00. Each employee agreed, beginning July 1, 1994, to contribute \$6.00 per month from their flex benefit to the Burbank Fire Department Physical Fitness Partnership Program. As such, the \$6.00 contributed to the "Joint Physical Fitness Partnership Program" is shared equally by the City and each BFF employee (\$3.00 City and \$3.00 employee for a total of \$6.00). The City agrees to pay to the Union this joint contribution of the employees and the City for the "Joint Physical Fitness Partnership Program". The City shall provide monthly disbursements of all monies.
- **IV.L.3. b.** Said funds shall be solely used for the purchase and maintenance of Physical fitness supplies and equipment as determined by a committee established with representatives of both the Department and Union.

# IV.M. DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES LICENSE REIMBURSEMENT

The City will pay for or reimburse Department of Motor Vehicle fees for all licenses which exceed the minimum qualifications of the employee's classification. This fee does not include training or remedial examination preparation.

### IV.N. PYI DISABILITY INSURANCE

- **IV.N.1.** The Union has a disability insurance plan known as PYI. This plan provides disability coverage upon a determination that the employee is in a "no compensation" status. The City has a policy that requires employees to exhaust all leave prior to being granted a leave without pay. This policy prevents the PYI eligible employee from making use of the benefit.
- **IV.N.2.** The City will allow employees to enter into a leave without pay status thirty (30) calendar days from the date of the injury or onset of the illness for the sole purpose of collecting disability payments through the PYI plan.
- **IV.N.3.** The employee, upon return to duty, shall not use any leave time that was not scheduled prior to the illness or injury for a term of ninety (90) calendar days. This does not include the usage of leave due to illness, illness in the immediate family, or a death in the immediate family.
- **IV.N.4.** An employee, in their first year of employment, shall be able to waive this requirement and initiate the PYI immediately upon the exhaustion of their sick leave, waiving the thirty (30) calendar day requirement.
- **IV.N.5.** This article does not negate or change any Federal or State legislation such as FMLA/CFRA.

### IV.O. OPERATIONAL ASSIGNMENT BID SYSTEM

The City participated in an Operational Assignment Bid System for a one (1) year trial

period, from January 1, 2010 to January 1, 2011. At the Fire Chief's sole purview, a decision was made to continue the Operational Assignment Bid System, thus, it became a permanent system effective January 1, 2011.

# ARTICLE V MISCELLANEOUS

### V.A. PROBATIONARY PERIOD

#### V.A.1. One Year Period

All original and promotional appointments of affected employees to positions in the Civil Service System shall be for a normal probationary period of twelve (12) months. The twelve (12) month probationary period for an appointment as a probationary Fire Fighter shall begin on the day of successful completion of the Fire Fighter Recruit academy.

### V.A.2. Extension of Probation

The probationary period shall be regarded as part of the testing process and shall be utilized for closely observing the employee's work, for securing the most effective adjustment of an employee to a new position, and for rejecting any probationary employee whose performance does not meet the required standards of work. The Fire Chief may recommend, and the City Manager may extend, an employee's normal probationary period by a maximum of six months in two-month increments.

# V.A.3. Termination of Probationary Appointment

Probationary employees do not have property or vested rights in their positions with the City. A probationary employee may be discharged or rejected at any time by the appointing power without cause and without right of appeal. Notification in writing of discharge or rejection shall be served on the probationary employee and a copy shall be filed with the Management Services Director.

# V.A.4. Return of Rejected Probationary Employee to Former Position

Employees rejected during the probationary period from a position to which they have been promoted shall be reinstated to the position from which they were promoted, unless the employee is discharged for cause as provided in the Civil Service Rules.

### V.A.5. Displacement by Reinstatement of Another to Former Position

Employees, though they may have attained permanent status, who are displaced as a result of another employee being returned to their former position under **Article V A.4.** or under this subsection, shall likewise be reinstated to their former position. Employees so affected having permanent status but no former position, shall be placed on the appropriate layoff list.

### V.B. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

#### V.B.1. Definition of Grievance

**V.B.1.a.** A grievance is any complaint or dispute regarding the application of or interpretation of this MOU, rules, regulations, policies, or procedures relating to wages, hours, or other terms and conditions of employment.

# V.B.2. Procedural Steps

- V.B.2.a. Step One: Oral notice to Immediate Supervisor Not later than five (5) working days after the event giving rise to the grievance, or five (5) working days after the employee should reasonably have learned of the event giving rise to the grievance, whichever is later, the employee must discuss the grievance with their immediate supervisor. The immediate supervisor shall respond orally to the employee not later than five (5) working days later.
- V.B.2.b. Step Two: Written Appeal to the Administrative Battalion Chief If the grievance is not settled at Step One, the employee, not later than ten (10) working days after receipt of the immediate supervisor's answer at Step One, may file a written appeal to the Administrative Battalion Chief. Not more than ten (10) calendar days after receipt of the grievance, the Administrative Battalion Chief shall meet with the grievant and, if requested, a union representative. The Administrative Battalion Chief shall give a written answer to the grievant within ten (10) calendar days of the meeting.
- V.B.2.c. Step Three: Written Appeal to the Fire Chief If the grievance is not settled at Step Two, the employee, not later than five (5) working days after receipt of the Administrative Battalion Chief's written answer at Step Two, may file a written appeal to the Fire Chief. Not more than ten (10) calendar days after receipt of the grievance, the Fire Chief (or authorized designee) shall meet with the grievant and, if requested, a union representative. The Fire Chief (or authorized designee) shall give a written answer to the grievant within ten (10) calendar days of the meeting.
- V.B.2.d. Step Four: Appeal to the Civil Service Board If the grievance is not resolved at Step Three, the employee, not later than ten (10) calendar days after receipt of the written decision of the Fire Chief, may forward the written grievance together with the written decision of the Fire Chief to the Employee Relations Administrator who will at the next regular meeting of the Civil Service Board schedule the matter for hearing. The Civil Service Board after hearing the matter will make a recommendation to the City Manager within thirty (30) days. The decision of the City Manager will exhaust this administrative procedure.

# **V.B.3. Written Presentation**

V.B.3.a. All grievances presented at Step Two of the procedure set forth in Article V B.2.b. shall include the following: the material facts giving rise to the grievance; the provisions of this MOU, if any, alleged to have been violated; the names of the aggrieved employee(s); the date; and the remedy sought. The Union will be provided a photocopy of any grievance filed without union representation at the time of the receipt of the Step Two written grievance. The written grievance or appeal at each step of this procedure shall be signed and dated by the aggrieved employee or approved union representative. All written answers and decisions by the appropriate City

officer shall be signed and dated by that officer or authorized representative.

### **V.B.4. Time Limitations**

V.B.4.a. The object of this procedure is rapid resolution of problems in the work place. No grievance or appeal will be accepted beyond the time limits established in this procedure. An employee who fails to timely file a grievance or appeal will be deemed to waive any further grievance or appeal for the event giving rise to the grievance. If a City official fails to respond within the time limits, the employee or the Union may immediately appeal to the next level. Time limits may only be extended by mutual written agreement of the Union and the Fire Chief.

# V.C. DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE

The efficient operation of the Burbank Fire Department is dependent on a well-disciplined, cohesive organization. The City and Union agree that occasions will occur when an employee's performance and/or behavior must be modified in order to insure that the mission of the department is not adversely impacted. Discipline must be fair and consistent in order to positively affect the employee. Ideally, the goal of discipline is to assist the employee in reaching their full potential.

# V.C.1. Responsibility

V.C.1.a. It is the responsibility of the Fire Chief, all Chief Officers, and all Company Officers to maintain discipline and carry out the directives of the department. Any incident or behavior which does not conform to Burbank Fire Department policies, City of Burbank Administrative Procedures, Rules of the Civil Service System, or the City of Burbank, shall be disciplined in the most appropriate manner.

# V.C.2. Investigations

- **V.C.2.a.** When the Fire Chief or any Chief/Company Officer either observes or is made aware of an incident which may constitute "just cause" for discipline, they must first conduct an investigation of same.
- **V.C.2.b.** The extent of the investigation shall be determined by the complexity of the incident(s) and its perceived severity. If an investigation is appropriate, it shall be conducted in the most expedient manner possible.
- **V.C.2.c.** If the Officer(s) conducting the investigation determines that an interview of an employee could lead to discipline, it is incumbent on the Officer(s) to advise the employee of the following prior to any questioning or the request for a written statement:
  - **V.C.2.c.** (1) The subject of the investigation has the right to have Union representation present during any and all interviews, interrogations, etc. In the event that representation is not immediately available, a reasonable delay shall be granted to the employee in order to allow the Union to provide representation.

- **V.C.2.c.** (2) If the request is for a written statement, the employee may request that the investigating officer provide a memorandum outlining the information requested.
- **V.C.2.c.** (3) Any statements (either oral or written) may be used as part of the evidentiary basis for discipline of the employee.
- V.C.2.c. (4) Compelling employees to offer testimony against themselves under protest may result in the compromise of testimony in any related criminal proceedings.

# V.C.3. Administration of Discipline

- V.C.3.a. Upon the conclusion of an investigation, the Officer(s) conducting same shall determine the level of discipline most appropriate. If the recommended disciplinary action is more severe than an "oral counseling", the matter shall be referred, through the appropriate chain-of-command, to the Fire Chief or designee for disposition. The following constitutes the levels of progressive discipline:
  - V.C.3.a. (1) Oral counseling;
  - **V.C.3.a. (2)** Oral reprimand with written documentation (into departmental personnel file);
  - V.C.3.a. (3) Written reprimand;
  - V.C.3.a. (4) Suspension;
  - V.C.3.a. (5) Demotion;
  - V.C.3.a. (6) Termination.

# V.C.4. Pre-Disciplinary Hearing

- **V.C.4.a.** Prior to the imposition of discipline, other than oral counseling, the employee shall be served with written notice of the proposed discipline. The notice shall include the level of proposed discipline, the charges, facts supporting the charges, the reasons for the severity of the proposed action, and a statement of the employee's right to respond to the charges.
- **V.C.4.b.** The employee shall be given fourteen (14) calendar days in which to request a hearing or submit a written appeal of the proposed discipline. Upon receipt of the appeal or request for a hearing, the employee shall have the right to review all materials which make up the evidentiary basis of proposed discipline.
- **V.C.4.c.** The Fire Chief or designee shall schedule a hearing within fourteen (14) calendar days or render a decision based on a review of the written appeal within this time frame. The employee shall have the right to Union

representation during the hearing. This hearing shall be informal in nature, with the Fire Chief or designee rendering his decision within fourteen (14) calendar days. The decision shall be in writing, stating the charges, facts supporting the charges, reasons for severity, findings, and the imposition, reduction, or dismissal of the disciplinary action. This notice shall include the employee's right to an appeal as set forth in Section V.C.5., if applicable.

# V.C.5. Appeal of Discipline

- **V.C.5.a.** Oral counseling and oral reprimand with written documentation may not be appealed.
- V.C.5.b. Employees who wish to appeal the imposition of the final department decision regarding written reprimand, suspension, demotion, or termination may do so by submitting a written request for an appeal hearing to the Fire Chief within fifteen (15) calendar days of the date of service of the written final department decision. For discipline subject to the Formal Hearing Procedure in Article V.C.5.c, this written notice shall serve as the Notice of Defense described in Government Code §11506.
- V.C.5.b. Informal Hearing Procedure Appeal of the final department decision regarding written reprimand shall be subject to the informal hearing procedure contained in the Administrative Procedure Act (Government Code §§ 14000-11445.60), as required by the Fire Fighters Procedural Bill of Rights. The Fire Chief shall be the presiding officer and their decision on the appeal shall be final.
- V.C.5.c. Formal Hearing Procedure Appeal of the final department decision regarding suspension, demotion, and termination shall be subject to the formal hearing procedure in the Administrative Procedure Act (Government Code §11500-11529), as required by the Fire Fighters Procedural Bill of Rights. The formal hearing procedure shall be presided over by an Administrative Law Judge, and their determination shall be advisory to the City Manager, whose decision on the appeal shall be final. For the purposes of the formal hearing procedure, the final written decision provided to the employee pursuant to Article V.C.4.c shall serve as the Accusation described in Government Code §§11500, et seq.

# **V.D. ZERO TOLERANCE POLICY**

It is the policy of the City to maintain a drug free workplace for the health and safety of all its employees and citizens. It has been and shall remain the City's policy that the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession or use of a controlled substance by employees is prohibited in or on City property, or while acting in any capacity for the City. In addition, the consumption of alcoholic beverages or drugs that impair an employee's work ability are prohibited during working hours, including lunch or rest periods. Failure to comply with this policy may result in discipline up to and including termination.

# V.E. LAYOFF, DISPLACEMENT AND RECALL

# V.E.1. Purpose

The purpose of this section is to provide a fair and equitable basis for the reduction of personnel when this becomes necessary in the department or in the total work force. In such circumstances, the City will make every effort to assist those employees who may be subject to layoff due to lack of work or similarly compelling reason. Assistance will be made available through utilizing existing vacancies to the fullest extent possible to relocate affected employees. In addition, contacts will be made with other employers to refer those employees who are unable to be placed in other City vacancies.

# V.E.2. Seniority

- **V.E.2.a.** Seniority is defined as the status attained by the length of service in employment for the City of Burbank.
- V.E.2.b. Seniority shall accrue based on the most recent date of Civil Service employment. When an employee voluntarily terminates for a stated reason, except layoff, seniority shall cease and not be reinstated in the event of reemployment. Seniority shall be reinstated in the case of layoffs where the employee is recalled within three years of date of layoff. Such seniority shall include credits for prior time worked only and will not include any time while on layoff.
- **V.E.2.c.** Seniority in Rank is defined as the length of status in a promotional rank, beginning on the date of appointment to probationary status in said rank.
- V.E.2.d. The only exception to Article V.E.2.a. shall be in the event that two or more appointments are made on the same date to probationary status and there is one or more employees serving in a provisional status for said rank; and due to the application of Article II.K.3. or a managerial decision to provisionally appoint an employee of lower rank on the eligibility list for said position; the appointing authority shall have the right to declare an employee of higher seniority in rank even though another employee being appointed to probationary status on the same date has longer continuous service in said rank in a provisional status. If the appointing authority exercises this right, a notation shall be made in the appropriate documents, designating the seniority in rank over the other employee(s) with preceding dates in rank due to longer consecutive provisional appointments.
- **V.E.2.e.** Seniority shall be implemented in accordance with the provisions as set forth in this Article.

## V.E.3. Layoff

- **V.E.3.a.** Layoff of employees shall be determined by length of Civil Service with the City using the present date of hire except as otherwise provided in this section.
- V.E.3.b. Except as outlined below in Article V.E.4., layoffs should be effected within

- the department; general displacement of employees across departmental lines shall not be permitted.
- V.E.3.c. Employees with unique skills or body of knowledge for the performance of their duties, as determined by the Fire Chief with the concurrence of the City Manager, may be retained out of their seniority with the City as long as such employee has a minimum of two (2) years total employment. There shall be a limit of ten (10) employees, citywide, who may be designated under this paragraph during any given layoff. Standards for defining retention of such employees shall be limited to:
  - V.E.3.c. (1) Special schooling provided or required by the City for employees following their initial employment to fill a unique position or meet a specific program need where the schooling lasts for six (6) months or longer.
  - **V.E.3.c.** (2) Special experience provided or required by the City for a unique position or special program need where the experience requires at least one (1) year of training on the job.
  - **V.E.3.c.** (3) Possession of a unique craft, artistic endeavor or professional level skill not available in other City employees.
- **V.E.3.d.** Employees who have been previously appointed to provisional status in a higher classification at time of layoff considerations shall revert back to their permanent classification for purposes of determining their layoff.
- **V.E.3.e.** An employee in a probationary status as a result of a promotion within the Civil Service System cannot displace a permanent employee in the same classification at time of layoff.
- **V.E.3.f.** Employees may voluntarily request layoff in lieu of reassignment should their seniority be sufficient to be retained on the payroll.
- **V.E.3.g.** Employees on layoff shall be recalled to their previous classification based on the minimum qualification requirements which existed at the time of their layoff.

# V.E.4. Displacement

V.E.4.a. Except as stated in Article V.E.4.b. and e., an employee whose position has been eliminated shall be permitted, in total seniority order within the respective job classification, to transfer to a lateral or lower classification within the department. This transfer shall occur only when a position in such classification is either vacant or occupied by another employee with less total seniority as calculated from their present date of hire. On taking a lower classification, the employee shall be paid at the highest rate of the lower classification which is not greater than the rate earned prior to the displacement.

- **V.E.4.b.** In such instances as outlined in **Article V.E.4.a.**, employees must meet the minimum qualifications of the newly assigned position.
- **V.E.4.c.** An employee must be medically fit to perform the duties of the newly assigned position.
- **V.E.4.d.** Employees displaced from a job because the position has been deleted or replaced by a higher classified employee with more seniority, shall be eligible to transfer to the same or lower title in another department, where the employee last served prior to their current assignment, if:
  - V.E.4.d. (1) they served in that title and in that department where a vacancy or employee with lesser seniority exists, and
  - V.E.4.d. (2) The department manager of the department to which the transfer is to be made approves such transfer if said department is any of the following: City Council, City Manager, City Attorney, or Employee Relations Division.
- **V.E.4.e.** Employees who are reduced in classification shall be returned to their previous higher classification and department when a vacancy occurs within a three-year period of the reduction. Such return will not require qualifying through testing or placement on an employment list. Where the return involves returning to probationary status within six (6) months following demotion, the time spent in probationary status before the demotion occurred shall be applied toward permanent status.
- **V.E.4.f.** Employees in provisional status in higher classification shall be returned to their permanent classification prior to layoff in order to determine their availability for displacement or reassignment.
- **V.E.4.g.** Where three (3) or more employees exist in a classification within a department, the department shall not be required to lose more than fifty (50) percent of its employees in any given classification through displacement by higher classified, longer seniority employees.
- V.E.4.h. An employee with greater seniority than other employees in the same classification and department may request voluntary transfer or demotion to another position under the provisions of Article X, Section B of the Civil Service Rules.
- **V.E.4.i.** An employee designated by the City Manager as a management employee may or may not be reduced to a lower classification which would result in the management employee having to work for another employee whom they formerly supervised.
- **V.E.4.j.** As used in this section, "higher classification" or similar phrases are synonymous and interchangeable.

### V.E.5. Procedure

- **V.E.5.a.** Departments anticipating a possible reduction in staff shall notify the City Manager and the Employee Relations Administrator as soon as possible in order for appropriate action to be taken.
- **V.E.5.b.** An immediate determination should be made as to which positions will be involved and the number of employees to be affected.
- **V.E.5.c.** The Employee Relations Administrator shall determine what openings exist in the same and other departments so that affected employees may be considered for transfer prior to layoff.
- **V.E.5.d.** Employees to be affected by a layoff will be given written notice thirty (30) calendar days in advance.
- **V.E.5.e.** Efforts will begin immediately to relocate affected employees into comparable positions of responsibility and pay or lower rated positions where practicable as outlined in **Article V.E**. First priority for filling open positions will be given to affected employees as opposed to other employees or job applicants under consideration

### V.E.6. Recall

The Employee Relations Administrator, upon approval by the City Manager, will establish and make available to affected employees a Recall List showing all employees on demotion or layoff status along with the date of appointment. In utilizing the list, the following shall apply:

- **V.E.6.a.** Laid off employees on the Recall List shall have absolute rights over regular employment, transfer or reinstatement lists.
- V.E.6.b. The names of laid off employees shall be listed in the inverse order of their layoff or demotion according to seniority. Employees shall be recalled to their last classification or lower classified position in any department of the City should they be the most senior on the recall list or lists for the positions available. Should a lower classified position first become available and no recall list exists for such position, then the most senior employee on the recall list for the next higher classified position shall be recalled in accordance with Article V.E.6.c.
- **V.E.6.c.** Employees on the Recall List will hold reinstatement rights for a period of three years from date of layoff and be considered for openings as they arise and are determined to be medically fit.
- **V.E.6.d.** Upon reinstatement, employees will receive their old wage step or if in a lower classification, the step nearest to, but not exceeding the old classification. In addition, if recalled within three years of layoff, previous seniority will be reinstated less any time spent on layoff.

- **V.E.6.e.** Employees are recalled from layoff and had been (1) serving in a probationary status and (2) never in a permanent status in the Civil Service system, then their past seniority shall not be reinstated for purposes of satisfying the probationary period unless recalled to the former position within six (6) months following the layoff.
- V.E.6.f. Employees on layoff status shall be responsible for keeping the City's Personnel Department aware of the most current address and telephone number for purposes of contact at time of recall. Absences from the home for over two weeks should also be reported if employees on layoff desires to safeguard against being passed over should notice of recall be given. On notifying employees of recall, the City of Burbank shall send notice by certified mail and the employee shall have fourteen (14) calendar days to respond from receipt of such notice. Where employees fail to respond, the City shall contact the next most senior employee on the Recall List, and the same procedures shall apply. Failure of employees to respond to notices sent as a result of three (3) opportunities during the permitted recall period shall cause removal of their names from the said list. In addition, employees must be available to return to work within two (2) weeks of receiving the above stated notification.

#### V.E.7. Benefit Considerations

- **V.E.7.a.** For layoffs under thirty (30) days, all benefits will be retained except for pro rata reduction in the retirement plan and reduction of seniority for days on layoff.
- V.E.7.b. For layoffs of thirty (30) days up to three years, there is no accrual of seniority, vacation, sick leave or other benefits for the period of the layoff. Sick leave and vacation benefits not previously paid the employee at the time of layoff shall be paid at the end of the first month of layoff unless at the time of layoff, an employee elects to leave all sick leave and vacation credits on account and have such credits reinstated upon recall. If the employee elects to leave all sick leave and vacation credits on accounts, such employee, or legal heirs, representative or assigns, may, at any time within three (3) years after the effective date of such employee's layoff, demand payment for such benefits in such sum or sums as would otherwise have been payable at time of layoff, without interest. The City shall have up to thirty (30) days to make such payment after time of demand. Failure to demand such payment during such three-year period and one year thereafter shall constitute a waiver thereof. Payments of the cash value of accrued sick leave and vacation credits shall terminate all further obligation by the City to reinstate such past credits should the employee be returned to work.
- **V.E.7.c.** For layoffs of three years or more, recall privileges cease at three years.
- **V.E.7.d.** Employees recalled following a layoff shall be entitled to receive at least the same level of benefits which they were receiving at the time the layoff occurred, provided, however, any reduction or increase in benefits for all

employees in the recalled employee's represented group during the layoff period shall apply to the recalled employee.

# V.F. RETURN FROM TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENT

Upon the termination of a temporary assignment, permanent employees shall be returned to their permanent position.

### V.G. TRAINING

It is the goal of the Burbank Fire Department and the Union to provide quality training to employees. In order to achieve this goal, both parties recognize the need to augment departmental training programs with off-duty classroom instruction. The parties hereby agree to the following:

- V.G.1. The Fire Department may make its Training Center available to the Union with the approval of the Fire Chief at no cost, for the purpose of providing fire science education. Reservation of the Training Center shall be scheduled through the appropriate department officer. Such use shall not be unreasonably denied.
- **V.G.2.** All costs associated with the provision of instructors, accreditation, materials, etc., shall be the responsibility of the Union. This shall not preclude the Union from charging students appropriate fees to defray the cost of training.
- **V.G.3.** The Union shall have the option to invite fire fighters from other departments to said training.
- **V.G.4.** The Union shall certify the City as an "additional insured" through their provider for all usage of the Training Center. The Union shall provide a copy of said active policy to the Risk Manager of the City of Burbank.
- V.G.5. It is recognized that the Department will make an attempt to provide as many educational opportunities as is practical. It is further recognized that constraints on the department's training budget preclude making many classes available to large numbers of employees. In order to facilitate more employees participating in training, the Department will offer certain classes, seminars, etc. at the Department's expense with the stipulation that employees shall not be compensated or be subject to the provisions of the FLSA under II.E.5. for non-mandatory training provided by the Department while in an off-duty status.

# **V.H. OPEN COMMUNICATIONS**

- **V.H.1.** Any employee may attend and address Department Officers at any staff meeting on any subject. Employees may state an opinion, ask a question or ask for action on any matter. Any employee exercising this avenue can expect a courteous and attentive hearing.
- V.H.2. Employees wishing to speak at a staff meeting should contact the Fire Chief's secretary prior to the Friday before the staff meeting and leave their name, subject, and approximate time needed. If at any meeting there are a number of employees who wish to speak, the time and number of speakers may be

limited to insure that a reasonable schedule of Department business is kept.

- V.H.3. In the interest of a strong labor-management relationship, both parties agree to hold quarterly informal meetings between the Fire Chief, Assistant Fire Chief, and the three principle officers of Local No. 778 (President, Secretary-Treasurer, and Vice-President). It shall be incumbent upon both parties to arrange a time to meet that is mutually acceptable. Employees in an off-duty status shall receive no compensation for attendance at said meetings.
- V.H.4. At least two times each year, a labor-management meeting shall be held in which all Chief Officers and all members of the Executive Board of Local No. 778 participate. The goal of these meetings shall be to communicate departmental goals, master planning, areas of concern, and methods of enhancing the cohesive working relationship between two parties.

#### V.I. FLAG ETIQUETTE

- V.I.1. Whenever a Fire Fighter in the greater Los Angeles area suffers a fatal job related injury or illness, or where more than one Fire Fighter suffers a fatal job related injury or illness outside of the county and there is wide-spread news coverage of that event, all Burbank fire stations will lower their flags to half-staff for an appropriate period of time. The time that flags are lowered will vary with the circumstances; however, as a guideline, flags should be lowered from the time of notification until after interment.
- **V.I.2.** In the event that any employee becomes aware of a Fire Fighter fatality, this information should be passed through appropriate channels to the Line Battalion Chief for action. A chief officer will then make the determination as to when flags are to be lowered and later raised.
- **V.I.3.** In addition to the above stated policy, the City Manager's office will be advised and request the rest of the City also lower their flags to half-staff.

## **V.J. NOTIFICATION OF UNION**

In the interest of meeting the needs of Burbank Fire Department employees, active and retired, the City of Burbank and the Union, mutually agree on the following:

- V.J.1.In the event of an active employee's on-duty or off-duty illness or injury which requires said employee's hospitalization, the officer in charge will attempt to contact the Union President, or authorized representative, to coordinate with the Fire Department Administration to best meet the immediate needs of the involved employee and employee's family. This policy shall also be applicable in the event of an employee's death.
- **V.J.2.** The Union President or his authorized representative shall be notified of all second alarm assignments and code 20 incidents.
- **V.J.3.** The Union, upon confirmation of a retired employee's injury, illness or death, shall contact the Fire Department Administration as soon as possible. During normal business hours, the Union President, or authorized representative, shall

contact the Administrative Battalion Chief. At all other times, the Line Battalion Chief shall be contacted. If the Department receives initial notification regarding a retiree, it shall contact the Union President, or authorized representative, as soon as possible. Upon notification, both parties will work together to meet the immediate needs of the retired employee and their family.

- **V.J.3.a.** This policy shall in no way place any financial obligation upon either party beyond their normal scope of responsibility.
- **V.J.3.b.** Failure on the part of either party to adhere to this policy shall not be remedied through the grievance process during the term of this contract. Both parties agree that the intent of this policy is solely to aid the employee and employee's family during a time of great need.

#### V.K. LIGHT DUTY ASSIGNMENT

Light duty assignment shall be considered in instances where employees are unable to perform the required duties of their current position due to an injury or illness. Said transfer may be made on a temporary basis at the discretion of the Fire Chief. Transfers to said position shall be made in accordance with a medical doctor's recommendation and the City's return to work policy, provided an opening exists within the capabilities of the injured/disabled employee.

#### V.L. COMMON MEAL SITE CONTRIBUTION

Employees are required by the Burbank Fire Department to contribute financially to congregate meals in the fire station at a charge equal to the value of the meals, irrespective of whether the employee chooses to eat the meal. An employee with a medical related dietary requirement or substantiated dietary custom due to religious beliefs shall be excused from this policy.

# **V.M. MOU COPIES**

The City will provide the BFF, at no cost, at least 20 printed copies of this collective bargaining agreement. The printed copies will be 8 ½ inches by 11 inches. In addition, the City will provide ten (10) electronic copies of this collective bargaining agreement to the BFF.

# **V.N. NEPOTISM POLICY**

Employees will be subject to the Employment of Relatives Administrative Procedure II-53.

# V.N.1. Promotional Candidate Appeal Process

- V.N.1.a. Administrative appeal procedure for rejected promotional candidates:

  If a promotional candidate is rejected on the basis of the City's Administrative Procedure II-53 regarding employment of relatives, they shall have the right to appeal the decision through an Administrative Appeal Procedure. The Administrative Appeal Procedure is as follows:
- **V.N.1.b.** The candidate, upon notification of rejection, may, within three (3) working days, file a written appeal of the decision with the Management Services Director. The written submission must include the specific basis for the

appeal under the policy.

- **V.N.1.c.** The Management Services Director will review the matter and respond to the appellant within five (5) working days of receipt of the appeal.
- **V.N.1.d.** If the appeal is denied by the Management Services Director, the candidate may, within three (3) working days, appeal the decision to the City Manager or authorized representative.
- **V.N.1.e.** The City Manager or authorized representative will review the matter and respond to the appellant within five (5) working days. The decision of the City Manager or authorized representative is final.

#### V.O. LABOR/MANAGEMENT COMMITTEES

Joint Labor/Management Committees will be established to discuss the following:

**V.O.1.** A committee, under the direction of the Management Services Department, to recommend modifications and revisions to the department's current Personnel Evaluation Form. It is the goal of this committee to complete its work by November 30, 2009.

#### V.P. SCORING OF PROMOTIONAL EXAMINATIONS

The City of Burbank's Civil Service Rule V, Subsections 3 and 4, shall not be applied to the scoring of promotional examinations for the positions of Fire Engineer and Fire Captain.

#### V.Q. LABOR ORGANIZATION IDENTIFICATION

- V.Q.1. All Burbank Fire Department apparatus and other vehicles shall display the IAFF three inch (3") window decal in the right lower corner of the windshield or similar location so as to be visible but not obscure the driver's vision field in any way. It shall be the responsibility of the Union to provide and maintain the decals in a state of good condition at all times.
- **V.Q.2.** At the option of each employee in the Union, they may affix a two inch (2") IAFF gold reflective decal to the underside of the rear brim of their fire helmet. It shall be the responsibility of the Union to provide the decals to each employee.

### V.R. DEFINITIONS

Assessment Paramedic: Employees designated by the Fire Chief to receive

assessment paramedic special assignment pay as

defined in Article II I.1.

Paramedic Unit: An apparatus manned full time by two paramedics of any rank

and recognized by the Los Angeles County Department of Health as such. It may be a Rescue Ambulance or an Engine

Company.

Roster: The official log of hours worked on any particular day.

Work Day: A twelve (12) hour work period for 56 hour suppression

assignment employees or an eight (8) hour work period for 40

hour staff assignment employees.

Shift: Two (2) twelve (12) hour workdays worked consecutively in a

24 hour period beginning at 0730 hours for a Kelly schedule

and 0700 for a 48/96 schedule.

FLSA Cycle: A defined work period with a maximum number of eligible

hours not subject to FLSA overtime. Eligible hours in excess of the maximum number of hours contained in the defined work period, as shown below, will be subject to FLSA overtime.

• Kelly schedule FLSA cycle: 27 calendar days, 204 hours

• 48/96 schedule FLSA cycle: 24 calendar days, 182 hours

• 40-hour schedule FLSA cycle: 7 calendar days, 53 hours

Special Assign. An appointment to a specialized duty where additional

compensation as outlined in **II.I.** is paid. Removal from special assignment is not a grievable issue and can occur at any time

at the sole discretion of the Fire Chief.

Incentive Pay: Compensation made available to encourage attainment of

specific departmental goals as outlined in II.I.

Employee Recall: When an employee is ordered back to duty on a day when the

employee would normally be off duty and refusal of such order

could invoke disciplinary action.

Employee Hire: When an employee voluntarily makes themselves available for

hire back and can remove their name for consideration of hire

without penalty.

# **EXHIBIT A**

# City of Burbank Management Services Department - Personnel Division PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

# **Fire Department**

Em	ıployee	Name	&	Number	·:				Job	Title:
								sal Period Fron		
						ANCE ANA				
A.	Degree of S	Supervision R	equir	ed						
ΠĬ	Jnsatisfacto	ry □Ne	eds Iı	nprovement	□Satis	factory	☐ Above	Satisfactory	□Exempl	ary
	Requires const direction	ant supervision or	emp	eds supervision more ployees performing a sfactory level		Acts independent that are customary responsibilities		Requires less directio supervision in the per of duties		erforms duties promptly ithout supervision
Co	mments:									
B.	Initiative									
ΠĬ	J <b>nsatisfacto</b>	ory □Ne	eds Iı	nprovement	□ Satis	sfactory	□ Above	e Satisfactory	□Exemp	olary
	Avoids respons	sibility		Reluctant to accept duties	ot assigned	Accepts and didelegated dution		Readily accepts ac	lditional duties	Initiates additional duties and responsibilities
Co	mments:									
C.	Quality									
إا	Jnsatisfacto	ory □Ne	eds I1	nprovement	□Satisfa	ectory	□Above	Satisfactory	□Exemp	lary
	Consistently prerrors or omiss	roduces work with m	ajor	Work frequently of shows poor jud			k is about the f most employees nd type of work	Frequently produc work	es error free	Consistently produces work with little or no errors
Con	mments:									
D.	Completen	ess								
ום		ory □Ne	eds I1	nprovement	□ Sati	sfactory	□Above	Satisfactory	□Exemp	lary
	Work is seldon completion	n carried through to		Final details some completion	etimes need	Work normally attention to de	y completed with tails	Very thorough in a details	attention to	Work always completed with thorough attention to detail and appropriate "follow-up"

Page 1

Comments:

E.	E. Communication - Written and Oral						
	Unsatisfactory □Nee	ds Improvement 🔲 Sati	isfactory	Satisfactory DExemp	olary		
	Vague and ambiguous in expression of ideas	Ability to express himself/herself is somewhat limited	Expresses himself/herself well enough to be understood	Shows organization and consistency in expression of ideas	Unusual clarity and facility of expression		
C	omments:						
F.	Productivity						
	Unsatisfactory	□Needs Improvement [	□Satisfactory □ Above	Satisfactory DExemp	lary		
	Tends to obstruct work output	Not very productive in job assignment	Produces work volume consistent with job assignment	Frequently performs more than the normal work load for this assignment	Handles an unusually large volume of work		
C	omments:						
		JOB K	NOWLEDGE				
A	. Ability To Learn						
	Unsatisfactory	□Needs Improvement	□ Satisfactory □Abov	e Satisfactory □Exen	nplary		
	Responds slowly and with poor understanding	Has some difficulty in comprehending	Adequately learns new ideas and concepts	Learns new things easily	High capability to learn and apply new ideas		
C	omments:						
В.	Fire Fighting: □ Bureau □	Suppression					
	Unsatisfactory	□Needs Improvement	☐ Satisfactory ☐ Abov	ve Satisfactory □Exen	ıplary		
	Lacks adequate knowledge or skills to perform at an acceptable level	Inconsistently applies required knowledge and skills	Maintains and applies knowledge and skills adequate to satisfactorily perform assigned duties	Maintains and applies required knowledge and skills at a higher level than most in this assignment	Maintains and applies required knowledge and skills at a consistently high level		
C	omments:						
		□ Cunnuagion					
	. Fire Prevention: 🗆 Bureau						
	Unsatisfactory	□Needs Improvement	□Satisfactory □Above	Satisfactory DExem	plary		
	Lacks adequate knowledge of skills to perform at an acceptable level	Inconsistently applies required knowledge and skills	Maintains and applies knowledge and skills adequate to satisfactorily perform assigned duties	Maintains and applies required knowledge and skills at a higher level than most in this assignment	Maintains and applies required knowledge and skills at a consistently high level		

Comments:

D. Emergency Medical Service	rage 3			
□Unsatisfactory □Needs □	Improvement   Satisf	factory	Satisfactory DExemp	olary
Lacks adequate knowledge or skills to perform at an acceptable level	Inconsistently applies required knowledge and skills	Maintains and applies knowledge and skills adequate to satisfactorily perform assigned duties	Maintains and applies required knowledge and skills at a higher level than most in this assignment	Maintains and applies required knowledge and skills at a consistently high level
Comments:				
E. Clerical/Technical Skills				
□Unsatisfactory [	□Needs Improvement	□Satisfactory □Abov	e Satisfactory □Exen	nplary
Lacks adequate knowledge or skills to perform at an acceptable level	Inconsistently applies required knowledge and skills	Maintains and applies knowledge and skills adequate to satisfactorily perform assigned duties	Maintains and applies required knowledge and skills at a higher level than most in this assignment	Maintains and applies required knowledge and skills at a consistently high level
Comments:				
F. Supervision (Engineer and C	Captain Only)			
□ <u>Unsatisfactory</u> [	□Needs Improvement	☐ Satisfactory ☐Abov	ve Satisfactory □Exen	nplary
Fails to lead and develop employees	Inconsistent leadership and development of employees	Provides adequate leadership and development opportunities for employees	Provides consistent ongoing leadership and development of employees	Unusual ability in leading and developing employees into a cohesive, productive team
Comments:				
G. Safety				
□Unsatisfactory	□Needs Improvement	□Satisfactory □ Abo	ove Satisfactory □Exen	nplary
Unacceptable level of care and concern of safety principles	Exhibits reluctance in accepting safety procedures	Accepts and practices safety in workplace	Exhibits a high degree of conscientiousness	Cares deeply about safety and sets an outstanding example to others
Comments:				
	ATTITUDE, AD	APTABILITY AND DEP	ENDABILITY	
A. Ability To Work With Othe				
□Unsatisfactory	□Needs Improvement	☐ Satisfactory ☐Abo	ve Satisfactory □Exem	ıplary
Lacks interpersonal skills	Has difficulties in dealing with fellow employees	Has no particular difficulty in working with others	Quite cooperative and able to work well with others	Has a noticeably good effect on the work group
Comments:				•

# B. Ability To Deal With People Outside Department

□Unsatisfactory	□Needs Improvement	☐ Satisfactory ☐ Above	e Satisfactory □Exen	nplary
Tends to create problems in contacts with people	Has difficulties in dealing with the public or other departments	Get along well in telephone and personal contacts inside and outside the work area	Does a commendable job of dealing with people at all levels	Unusually skilled in dealing with the public resolving complaints and obtaining the cooperation of others

# Comments:

# C. Interest in Work

□ Unsatisfactory □ Needs Improvement		☐ Satisfactory ☐ Above Satisfactory ☐ Exemplary			
Appears bored with job	Gives impression that he/she lacks enthusiasm for assigned duties	Seems interested in present job	Almost always engrossed in his/her work	Seems to find position extremely interesting and stimulating	

# Comments:

# D. Flexibility

□Unsatisfactory	□Needs Improvement	□Satisfactory □ Abov	e Satisfactory □Exen	ıplary
Very rigid and opinionated	Difficult to get him/her to see any point of view different from his/her own	Can make changes to adjust to new circumstances or ideas	Adapts well to changing circumstances	Readily considers new ideas and recognizes when it is appropriate to change viewpoints

# Comments:

# E. Resourcefulness

□Unsatisfactory	□Needs Improvement	☐ Satisfactory ☐Above	e Satisfactory	plary
Has considerable difficulty in dealing with anything out of the ordinary	Tends to rely on someone else when problems arise	Generally able to deal with unusual problems that arise in the course of work	Able to handle all but the most difficult problems with which he/she is confronted	Rarely stopped by any problems

# Comments:

# F. Judgment

□Unsatisfactory	□Needs Improvement	□ Satisfactory □ Abov	e Satisfactory □Exem	ıplary
Very erratic in his/her ability to reach logical conclusions	Has difficulty in analyzing variety of facts to arrive at sound conclusions	Tends to be logical in his/her approach to problems. Makes poor judgment no more often than most people	Can discriminate between relevant and irrelevant details to arrive at generally sound conclusions	Consistently arrives at correct conclusions even in the most difficult situations

# Comments:

G. Attendance and Punctual
----------------------------

□Unsatisfactory	□Needs Improvement	☐ Satisfactory	☐ Above Satisfactory	□Exemplary
Attendance and/or punctuality undependable	is Has difficulty in reporting to work and appointments on time	Usually punctual in repo work and appointments	rting for Makes a point of alw be on the job and on	
Comments:				
H. Appearance				
□Unsatisfactory	□Needs Improvement	☐ Satisfactory ☐	Above Satisfactory	□Exemplary
Unsatisfactory	Poor appearance. Usually untidy or extreme	Acceptable appearance	Good impression. Us well groomed	Exceptional appearance. Always neat and well groomed
Comments:	•		·	
I. Physical Fitness				
□Unsatisfactory	□Needs Improvement	□Satisfactory □	Above Satisfactory	□Exemplary
Poor physical conditioning affects ability to perform assigned duties	Marginal physical conditioning sometimes affects ability to perform assigned duties	Physical conditioning is appropriate for performa assigned duties	nce of  Better physical condi most co-workers. Co higher performance a endurance in physica demanding duties	ontributes to enables consistently high levels of performance
Comments:				
	a			
	SU e employee is performing a vote more effort to improve			above and where
B. Employee comments:	:			
■EXEMPLARY If overall performance ra his/her	OVERALL PER □NEEDS IMPROVEMI  ating is unsatisfactory or need  ppraisal period? □ Yes □ N	ds improvement hav	TORY DABOVE SA	
Interview conducted with	(Signature of Employee)	By:(Signatur	re of Supervisor)	(Date)
Employee's signature doe	es not necessarily indicate agre	eement with this per	formance evaluation.	
Reviewed by:(Signature	of Division Head)	(Signature of De	epartment Manager) (	(Date)

# EXHIBIT B BFF 48/96 POLICY AND OBJECTIVES

# 1. Affected Employees

This agreement will apply to Fire Suppression employees on a 24-hour shift schedule.

### 2. Effective Date

The new 48/96 work schedule went into effect on July 1, 2018.

# 3. Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) Work Period

The work period will be defined as a 24-day work period, as permitted by the FLSA, in order to accommodate the 48/96 work schedule. Overtime will be paid in accordance with Section II.E of the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), as applicable to a 24-day work period.

# 4. Description of 48/96 Work Schedule

A duty shift will be a period of two (2) twelve (12) hour workdays worked consecutively in a 24 hour period, beginning at 0700 hours one day and continuing to 0700 hours the next day. A scheduled rotation will occur after two 24-hour shifts (48 hours), followed by 96 hours off. This will result in 10 hours of scheduled overtime per 24-day FLSA work period.

### 5. Termination of 48/96 Schedule

The City may, at its sole option, terminate the 48/96 work schedule for the following reasons: (i) failure to meet the objectives of the 48/96 work schedule set forth in Section 11 below; (ii) negative trends in the measurable objectives set forth in Section 11 below; and/or (iii) operational difficulties and/or challenges as identified by the Fire Chief.

- (a) No less than 60 days prior to issuing a termination notice, the City will contact the Association to meet and discuss the challenges identified with the 48/96 work schedule with the intent to determine whether the issues can be resolved. No sooner than 30 days following the meeting, if the issues are not resolved to the City's satisfaction in its sole discretion, the City will notify the Association of its final decision to terminate the 48/96 work schedule.
- (b) In addition, the Association may request to terminate the 48/96 schedule. Upon receipt of the Association's request to terminate the 48/96 schedule, the parties will meet and confer regarding the Association's request.
- (c) Written notice of termination will be submitted to the other party. The City will make every effort to revert to the previous Kelly work schedule as soon as possible, but no later than one calendar year beginning from the date of such written notice.

# 6. Emergency Backfill

In an effort to preserve coverage in emergency situations, it shall be the responsibility of the Burbank Fire Fighters' Association to ensure that emergency backfill of responding resources occurs within 60 minutes of the initial dispatch notice. It is the intent of this policy to ensure the roster is filled within 60 minutes, not to require employees to arrive within 60 minutes. To support this effort, the City shall utilize all available resources, including mass text message notification and making phone calls from an identifiable phone number.

# 7. Holiday Black-Out Period

Effective on the date in 2018 that the 48/96 schedule is implemented, only two employees shall be allowed to utilize Tier 1 Vacation Leave on Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Eve, and Christmas Day under the normal vacation selection process. All other employees will utilize Tier 2 Vacation Leave. Effective January 1, 2019, all employees, regardless of seniority, will be subject to a "holiday black-out period" wherein vacation time off will be restricted to Tier 2 Vacation Leave on Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Eve, and Christmas Day.

# 8. Maximum Continuous Duty

The maximum allowable continuous duty hours are capped at 120 hours (mandatory and/or voluntary), with a minimum 6-hour period thereafter before the employee returns to any duty. An exception to the maximum continuous duty hours may be approved by the Fire Chief or his/her designee in their sole discretion for off-district assignments through mutual aid or unusual circumstances, such as a local disaster.

#### 9. Minimum Time Off

Tier 2 vacation, holiday, sick leave, and in lieu time may be scheduled in a minimum of 4 hour blocks, and Tier 1 vacation must be taken in 24 hour shifts, except as required by state, local, or federal law.

# 10.48/96 Schedule Objectives

It shall be the goal of the 48/96 schedule to increase productivity and training opportunities, enhance employee morale and job satisfaction, and maintain continuity of assignments without negative impacts on the fire service or City, including, but not limited to, the following areas:

- Sick leave use
- Number of injuries/Workers' Compensation claims
- Number of vehicle accidents
- Training hours completed
- Number of fire inspections performed
- Overtime cost
- Emergency backfill
- 11. The Fire Chief or designee may exercise the authority granted to the City herein.

In witness whereof, the parties hereto have caused their authorized representatives to execute this Memorandum of Understanding on this date effective since July 1, 2022, and as provided herein.

ON BEHALF OF THE CITY OF BURBANK:		ON BEHALF OF THE BURBANK FIRE FIGHTERS
The state of the s		LOCAL NO. 778:
JUSTIN HESS		STUART D. ADAMS, ESQ.
City Manager		Lead Negotiator
Betsy McClinton		/nh
BETSY MCCLINTON		ÉRIC ROWLEY
Management Services Director		President
67		
ERIC GARCIA		JAKE STOCKTON
Fire Chief	,	Viçe President
Bling Hu		Mille
BRADÝ GRÍFFIN	•	ŔALPH MUNDELL
Acting Ast. Management Services Directo	r	Secretary/Treasurer
		(78g)
JULIE CHAIDEZ		GRANT STEPHENS
Senior Administrative Analyst		Negotiating Team Member

# **INDEX**

Α

ADDITIONAL RETIREMENT BENEFITS	
ADVANCE IN WAGE UPON PROMOTION	9
AFTER HOURS EDUCATION REIMBURSEMENT PROGRAM	
APPEALS	
ATTENDANCE	
<b>-</b>	
В	
BULLETIN BOARDS	
BURBANK EMPLOYEES' RETIREE MEDICAL TRUST (BERMT)	32
С	
_	
CITY RIGHTS	
CIVIL SERVICE BOARD MEETINGS	
CONSECUTIVE HOURS WORKED	
CRITICAL INCIDENT STRESS MANAGEMENT	
ONTHOAL INCIDENT STRESS MANAGEMENT	
D	
D	
DEATH IN FAMILY	
DENIAL OF STEP INCREASE	
DISABILITY INSURANCE	
DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE	
DISPLACEMENT DUES DEDUCTIONS	
DOES DEDUCTIONS	
E	
EDUCATIONAL INCENTIVE	
ELECTIONS	
EMERGENCY LEAVE	
EMERGENCY MEDICAL TECHNICIAN (EMT) PAY	
EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM (EAP)EMPLOYEE EVALUATION	
LIVIT EOTEE EVALUATION	9, 55, 50, 57, 50
F	
FAILURE TO PERFORM EMPLOYEE EVALUATIONS	
FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT (FLSA)	
FAMILY LEAVE	
FLAG ETIQUETTE	
FLEX BENEFIT PLAN (125 PLAN)	32, 33, 34
G	
GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	40. 41
Н	
HOLIDAY PAY - SUPPRESSION PERSONNEL	
HOLIDAYS	20

IN LIEU	11
INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT LEAVE	26
	J
I	L
LABOR ORGANIZATION IDENTIFICATION	
	45
LEAVE OF ABGENCE WITHOUT AT	
LIFE AND AD&D INSURANCE	34
	8
	5 
	И
_	6
MEDICARE	37
	27
	12, 13 9, 18
	1
	N
•	
	0
	50
OVERTIME FAT	10, 11, 12, 10
ı	P
	2
	30, 32
	4
	38
	35
	39
	Q
QUALIFIED RELIEF	27

RECALL	11, 12, 48, 49
RECOGNITION	
RELIGIOUS HOLIDAY	
RETIREES	
RETURN TO WORK	21
<b>S</b>	
SAFETY	2 4 26
SAFETY COMMITTEE	
SAVINGS CLAUSE	
SCORING OF PROMOTIONAL EXAMINATIONS	
SHOOTING PAY	
SICK LEAVE ACCRUAL	
SICK LEAVE CONVERSION	
SICK LEAVE WITHOUT PAY	
STRIKES	
Т	
•	
TERM OF AGREEMENT	
TIME OFF WITH PAY IN LIEU OF OVERTIME	
TRAINING	•
TRAINING CENTER	50
U	
LINIEODM ALLOWANIOE	0.5
UNIFORM ALLOWANCE	
UNION ACCESSUNION RIGHTS	
UNION RIGHTS	2
V	
V	
VACATION	8 11 22 23 24
VACATION SELECTION POLICY	
W	
YV	
WAGE PLAN	9
WELLNESS-FITNESS PROGRAM	
WORK PERIODS (SCHEDULES)	
WORKING OUT OF CLASS	17
Z	
ZERO TOLERANCE POLICY	44